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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

A5 4

Note 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
Mz ZEZ—-f ZEIZF Z-NFE E)N\F IEZtF
Revenue (HK$000) W (FE7)

a. Construction ER-£: 1,133,711 497,147 264,918 1,274,528 912,789
b. Property leasing bYERE 164,674 139,835 157,460 149,405 142,952
¢. Property development CHEER 194,000 265,614 191,032 - -
1,492,385 902,59 613,410 1,423,933 1,055,741
Profit from operations (Hk$000)  #E&&F| (FET) () 248,077 120,944 211,166 234,464 165,938
Underlying profit (Hk$ 000) EBEER (FE7T) (i) 147,646 44,173 129,581 171,292 120,297
Dividends (+K$000) e (FE7) 113,564 411,667 69,558 69,558 51,620
Current ratio TENEEE 0.84 1.45 2.62 3.79 4.89
Gearing ratio EXERALE (i 161.6% 177.4% 141.1% 129.7% 100.1%
Net gearing ratio BETARLEE (i) 116.4% 85.7% 135.3% 116.0% 83.1%
Return on equity N ek 6.0% 1.4% 5.3% 6.2% 7.7%

Note: sz -

(i) Profit from operations exclude the changes in fair value of investment ()  A&AEEFAKHBRBEYEATEESH

properties

EE A A ER RN R ENE Y ATE
28

(i) Underlying profit is arrived at by excluding the effect of changes in fair (i)
value of investment properties from profit for the year

EARBBLEREES BERBURRED R
LL100%

(i) Gearing ratio represents total interest-bearing borrowings divided by (il
shareholders’ equity and multiplied by 100%

FBEFEREXREBNRFERIRITERZ B
BB R R UL BR 2 5 SR LA100%

(iv)  Net gearing ratio represents total interest-bearing borrowings net of cash  (iv)
and bank balances, divided by shareholders’ equity and multiplied by
100%
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
hARM B

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

HE S e | ea R i =i S e R e — S
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
TET TAx FTET FAT FTET

RESULTS ES

For the year ended 31 March BE=H=—+—HItFE

Revenue iz 1,492,385 902,59 613,410 1,423933 1,055,741
Profit before taxation BRIR LA 187,904 43272 177,114 205,395 227,318
Profit for the year FRER] 149,035 33,829 149,000 171,787 203,020
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERAR

As at 31 March R=ZA=+—H

Total assets BEE 9,840,259 9,549,612 7,050,797 6,725,357 5,540,781
Total liabilities BeR 7,362,721 7,144,253 4,236,275 3,960,253 2,905,828
Total equity s 2,477,538 2,405,359 2,814,522 2,765,104 2,634,953
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
BN

Chan Hung Ming
R FLEA

Chairman

FE

\

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Grand Ming Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am delighted
to present the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2021 (“FY
2020/21").

RESULTS

The Group's underlying profit for FY 2020/21, excluding the changes
in fair value of investment properties, amounted to HK$147.6 million,
representing an increase of HK$103.4 million or 234.2% from HK$44.2
million for the corresponding year ended 31 March 2020 (“FY 2019/20").
Underlying earnings per share was 10.4 HK cents (FY 2019/20: 3.1 HK
cents as adjusted for the bonus issue in August 2020).

The Group's profit for the year was HK$149.0 million, inclusive of an
increase in fair value of investment properties of HK1.4 million (2020:
decrease of HK$10.3 million), representing an increase of HK$115.2
million or 340.6% when compared with that of HK$33.8 million for FY
2019/20. Earnings per share was 10.5 HK cents (FY 2019/20: 2.4 HK
cents as adjusted for the bonus issue in August 2020).

DIVIDENDS

The Board recommends payment of a final dividend of 4.0 HK cents per
ordinary share of the Company (the “Share(s)”) each to shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) whose names appear on the register
of members of the Company on 20 August 2021. Subject to approval
by the Shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting, the
proposed final dividend warrants are expected to be dispatched to
Shareholders on 3 September 2021.

FANERREREDERERAE (EAF) E
LF(#HF) g ((F5g) MAREEARBRE
WEA AR BIAEE) B#E_S-—F=H
=+—HILEE (M2020/21F E)) BFER

EIRREYE QN T EESEHE  REBF2020/215F
EERGENA147EB T BEE_S_S5=
B=+—BLEE (12019/20FE ) 2 B HF
4428 BB TTIBNN.034(E AT 3234.2% - B R E
MR 2104810 (2019/20EE - AE_E -
FEN\BIREARFEEAI BN

KEBERENA1.4900EB T QIEREYE
NEEEM40EE T (TEZEFE L HD1,030
BAEIT)  ®2019/20FEExmH33.8F & B oY
0491.15268 7 75 8¢340.6% G R & F 410.558 1
(2019/20FEE - AE_E - F N\ BIREBARKR
SEEE A2 AFEA) o

[:45)
EFgEHRERARESRATEER (TR
B 40BUFR B —FNBZ+BHAIE
AERRAMAZERBRE (TIRER)) - EER
RENEBERRBEASHERSSIFE -EE
KEZRRBEAFRN_FE-_—FHA=H
BIRTIRR
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (Continued)

ERE ()

Together with the interim dividend of 4.0 HK cents per Share already
paid, the total dividends for the year ended 31 March 2021 will amount
to 8.0 HK cents per Share, representing a payout ratio of approximately
76.9% (based on the total dividends and the Group's profit for the year
excluding the changes in fair value of investment properties).

REVIEW OF OPERATION

Construction

The Group’s construction business primarily consists of provision
of building services as a main contractor in property development
projects for prominent local developers, as well as existing building
alterations, renovation and fitting-out works services. Revenue derived
from the construction business increased by approximately 128% or
HK$636.6 million, from approximately HK$497.1 million for FY 2019/20 to
approximately HK$1,133.7 million for FY 2020/21, primarily attributable
to significant increase in revenue recognised from the construction
project at Kai Tak, Kowloon which the construction works commenced in
May 2019 and were in full swing during FY 2020/21.

As at 31 March 2021, the gross contract sum of the construction
projects in progress amounted to approximately HK$1.63 billion.

Data Centre Premises Leasing

Our data centre leasing business remains steadfast. iTech Tower 1 and
iTech Tower 2 continue to operate smoothly and deliver uninterrupted
services to our customers amidst the COVID-19 pandemic. Revenue
derived from this segment increased by approximately 17.8% or
HK$24.9 million, from approximately HK$139.8 million for FY 2019/20
to approximately HK$164.7 million, mainly driven by new customer
committing to move in and utilise the data centre space of iTech Tower 2.

In September 2020, the Group completed the acquisition of two parcels
of land in Fanling, the New Territories on which two new high-tier
data centres are planned to develop, at an aggregate consideration of
HK$356 million. These new sites will be an addition to the existing data
centres in the Tsuen Wan and Kwai Chung districts, further diversifying
the geographical presence of the Group’s data centres in Hong Kong.
Application for the land use change of these two parcels of land by way
of land exchange are now underway.

BRBKCHNTHRESRIEBU BEZT
T—EZRA=+—HLEENREBERSSE
B=8.078 1l > Ik B LEER A %76.9% (IRZER BABEAR
AEBWBRREMEAFELBHIFRIEN T
o

e qE

BE
AEBNERXERTIZOREEATIRAEBIND
AEAMALEEEREEFEERE AR
BETFRENE BN AEETRERF KERE
AW R FH2019/20F E 494 .97 1{E B 7o 0
Z2020/21F E 113378 7T 1B I149128%5K,
6.366B AT NHIEMEERBE MR NBEERE
NELEE E_Z—NWEFHRAHRRBRIRBIMN
2020/ FEERESIET

A — g8 —

\TE_—F-R=-+—H ZRREEBZS
MERBEN6IMEAT

HEFROMERE
FAEED O EEBMITEME iTech Tower 1
HMiTech Tower 25FEBIEZE(E > 7220195 B AR
FEEHEORMAZTEIRHEFBERE - KB %
D EBIURER F2019/20F FE#91.398 BB TIZ =4
1.6471EH T 1 INAI17.8%52,4908 BT T2
HREELNZMERBAKERTech Tower 289
BIER LT/

FEER_Z_ZFNBUEHISEETZAR
BETe R W B (LT ST SR M IR 158 - 5 B3
7 T B 2258 12 s BUHR P 0 o IR BFBR AL 278 R 35
RZBEROIN ZENMAMKE—SERER
BEABABE ORI D M o Z MBI IR IR IE R 5B
DUt 75 0B+ st A i o
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (Continued)

FRS ()

Property Development

The Grand Marine

This wholly-owned site, located at Sai Shan Road, Tsing Vi, New
Territories is being developed into 2 residential towers with clubhouse
and car park facilities. It provides a saleable area of approximately
345,000 square feet for 776 residential units. The topping-out of the
superstructure work had been completed, and the facade and interior
fitting-out works are now underway. The project is expected to be
completed by the end of 2021.

Pre-sales commenced since November 2019 and were well received by
the market. Approximately 89% of the residential units had been pre-
sold cumulatively, resulting in contracted sales of approximately HK$4.5
billion being recorded as at the date of this annual report.

cCristallo

The Group's luxury residential project, CRISTALLO, at No. 279 Prince
Edward Road West, Kowloon was also well sold. Sales and delivery of 2
apartments and 6 car parking spaces had been completed during the
year, and revenue of approximately HK$194.0 million were recognised
in FY 2020/21 accordingly. Besides, 6 provisional sales and purchase
agreements in respect of sales of 6 apartments with aggregate contract
sum of approximately HK$240 million had been entered into. Sales and
delivery of 2 apartments therein had been completed in May 2021.
Completions of the remaining 4 apartments are scheduled to take place
between June 2021 and June 2022.

Luen Fat Street project

In January 2021, the Group expanded its land bank by completing the
acquisition of a land located at No.1 Luen Fat Street, Fanling, New
Territories at a consideration of HK$140 million. This site, covering an
area of approximately 6,800 square feet, will develop into a residential-
cum-retail project. A land exchange application to convert the use of
land is under processing, and the Group expects the site will provide a
gross floor area of approximately 37,700 square feet upon approval of
the application.

MEER

TBEE0E |
&t%iﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁé%%%&ﬁﬁm%Zﬂﬂiﬁ%*)%
ARMEETERE REGRMNEERRE &
=) E%E,%’\JBAS,OOOM?EBE AR HT776MEEEE
fl-JBH LEBLTIE MIMEMAZEE TR
REEF - BREBE_S-_—FRANET-

IEEE_V NE+—BRRETRE ®E™N
BRI - N AERB I RETEE HAI8%RIE
TE RISTRERENSEET-

B3
REBMUNNEANFER/IENSIEEEIER
TBAE TFHEERB - FRE M EE Kk~

ES BB Z SHE M 3T » 2020/21F EREEB Z UK

mAMBE T oML Sh  AEEFIHE /N EE U
ST AMEBREEGH GstaNHETRY

QMERBIT BERMEEMZHENRNENR T
T FHARMA R TREEMNISZHEN_-Z
T RAEZE__F/AHBEMe

BEEGEE

A — 5 —
RZEZ—

F—R mxEBEUABIAMEEBITTR
Wi B (L 1 R SR BB B B T 1 SR SR DAYE K L Mt e
1 o b AR 3t 2 3t B8 E AR 496,800 F 73 IR » 7k 35 = B
RETKEEYZE i LB BRI T iR
RS EfERIET - AL B AT HREHL R IR
R P 2R EEARAY37,700F ;5 IR °
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT (Continued)

ERE ()

OUTLOOK

Following the roll-out of the COVID-19 vaccination programme and
tightening the restrictions of entry from overseas countries and
guarantine arrangements for inbound travellers, the pandemic situation
begins to stabilise in Hong Kong, and domestic economic activities
gradually resume but are still far behind the pre-pandemic level.
Yet the residential property market experienced a strong bounce in
both the first and second quarter of 2021, backed by stabilisation
of the pandemic situation, release of pent up demand and ultra-low
interest rate. To capture the market opportunity, we endeavor to sell
the remaining units in the Cristallo and The Grand Marine. The Grand
Marine is scheduled to be completed in the fourth quarter of 2021 and
handover of the properties to the buyers is targeted to take place in
around the late 2021 or first quarter of 2022, upon which the revenue
and profit of the cumulative pre-sold units will be recognised.

The Group actively replenishes its land bank during the year with
addition of 3 parcels of land in Fanling, the New Territories. These
provided new short to medium term development pipelines for the
Group’'s property development and data centre leasing businesses. We
will keep on attaching our cautious strategy to identify suitable land and
properties acquisition opportunities to enrich the Group’s land bank in
Hong Kong. Besides, various property development and property related
projects in Nanning, Guangxi Province, China are under consideration by
the management.

The year of 2021 remains a challenging year and we will closely
monitor the development of the pandemic, in particular the efficacy of
the vaccine and potential outbreak of a new COVID-19 strain. We will
take necessary measures to safeguard the interests of our employees
and the shareholders of the Company and minimise the impact of the
pandemic to the Group's financial and operational performances.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to the Board
for its brilliant leadership, to the Shareholders for their strong support,
and to the community for their enthusiastic help, and last but not least,
to our staff for their dedicated efforts.

Chan Hung Ming
Chairman

Hong Kong, 18 June 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

5 BRI v i B 93

FINANCIAL REVIEW

In FY 2020/21, the Group's consolidated revenue amounted to
approximately HK$1,492.4 million (FY 2019/20: HK$902.6 million),
representing an increase of approximately 65.3% as compared to the
corresponding period of last year. The increase was primarily driven by
revenue recognised from the construction project at Kai Tak, Kowloon
which the construction works were in full swing during the year.

Consolidated gross profit increased by 50.3% from last year to
approximately HK$331.1 million (FY 2019/20: HK$220.3 million), mainly
due to (i) full-swing operation of the construction project at Kai Tak drove
up the revenue and profit of the construction segment; and (i) sales
of car parking spaces and a duplex residential unit on the top floor in
Cristallo during the year.

Total operating expenses (inclusive of selling and general and
administrative expenses) for the year slightly dropped by 2.0% to
approximately HK$106.5 million (FY 2019/20: HK$108.6 million), primarily
because of higher advertising and marketing expenses incurred at
the start of the sales campaign of the Grand Marine project during FY
2019/20.

An unrealised fair value gain on investment properties of approximately
HK$1.4 million (FY 2019/20: loss of HK$10.3 million) was recognised for
FY 2020/21.

Finance costs for the year decreased by approximately 8.6% to
approximately HK$61.6 million (FY 2019/20: HK$67.3 million), due to the
decreased level of bank borrowings of the Group.

Net profit for FY 2020/21 was approximately HK$149.0 million (FY
2019/20: HK$33.8 million), representing an increase of approximately
340.6% when compared to that of FY 2019/20. Excluding the changes in
fair value of investment properties, the Group recorded an underlying
profit of approximately HK$147.6 million in FY 2020/21, representing an
increase of approximately 234.2% as compared to an underlying profit of
approximately HK$44.2 million in FY 2019/20.

10
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

o L i e o A (A

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group finances its operations and capital expenditure with its
shareholders’ fund and bank borrowings. A variety of credit facilities
are maintained which had contracted repayment terms ranging from
repayable on demand to 17.1 years. As at 31 March 2021, the Group
had outstanding bank borrowings of approximately HK$4,004.9 million
(31 March 2020: approximately HK$4,267.8 million). The gearing ratio
(defined as total interest-bearing borrowings divided by shareholders'’
equity) of the Group was approximately 161.6% (31 March 2020:
approximately 177.4%). Decrease in the bank borrowings and gearing
ratio was mainly attributable to the application of the proceeds from the
pre-sale of The Grand Marine project to settle part of its project loan.
The Group recorded net current liabilities amounting to approximately
HK$948.2 million as at 31 March 2021, (31 March 2020: net current
assets of approximately HK$1,540.3 million). The current ratio (defined
as current assets divided by current liabilities) of the Group was 0.84
times (31 March 2020: 1.45 times). Such change was mainly due to
reclassification of a syndicated bank loan of approximately HK$1,999
million which would be repayable on March 2022 as current liabilities.
On 31 May 2021, the Group had signed a conditional mandate with the
relevant bank to renew the aforesaid syndicated loan and grant a new
loan facility amounting to HK$2.8 billion. The Directors expects that the
renewed bank facility will be signed before the expiry of the current
facility.

The Group adopts a conservative approach in managing its cash
balances, which are mainly placed in bank accounts and short-term
deposits with reputable banks in Hong Kong. The total cash balances of
the Group as at 31 March 2021 were approximately HK$1,122.0 million
(31 March 2020: approximately HK$2,207.1 million), most of which
were held in Hong Kong dollars. Taking into account the cash at banks
and the credit facilities available, and that the management is actively
seeking renewal of the outstanding bank borrowings and exploring new
banking facilities, the Directors considered that the Group has sufficient
working capital for its present operation and business expansion in the
foreseeable future.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from bank borrowings,
which bear interest at floating rates. The Group had in place a treasury
policy by which the exposure to floating interest rate risk was mitigated
by the use of interest rate swaps. As at 31 March 2021, the Group had
outstanding interest rate swaps with notional amount of approximately
HK$2.14 billion. These swaps have fixed interest rates ranging from 0.5%
t0 2.63% per annum and will mature between 2021 to 2025.

mEBEERMBEIR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

o PR o B 51 B (A1)

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Directors consider that the Group’s foreign currency risk is
insignificant as substantially all of the Group’s transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The Group has not implemented
any foreign currency hedging policy at the moment. However, the
management monitor the Group’s foreign exchange exposure closely
and may consider adopting foreign currency hedging policy in the future
depending on the circumstances and the trend of foreign currency.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2021, certain assets of the Group with an aggregate
carrying amount of approximately HK$5,428 million were pledged to
secure bank loans of approximately HK$3,952 million granted to the
Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Details of the events after the reporting period are set out in the note 33
to the financial statements.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
The Group had no capital commitments as at 31 March 2021 and 2020.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31 March
2021 and 2020.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

There was no acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and associated
companies by the Company during FY 2020/21.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group had a total of 186 employees as at 31 March 2021. Total
remuneration of employees for FY 2020/21 was approximately HK$137.3
million. The remuneration policy and packages of the Group’s employees
are periodically reviewed by making reference to the prevailing market
conditions. The components of remuneration packages consist of basic
salary, benefits-in-kind, fringe benefits and contributions to mandatory
provident funds, as well as discretionary bonuses which are determined
according to individual performance of employees.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

o L i e o A (A

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

Except for investments in subsidiaries, the Group did not hold any
significant investment in equity interest in any other company during FY
2020/21.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

Reference is made to the Company’s announcements dated 1
June 2021 and 9 June 2021 regarding the proposed acquisition (the
“Acquisition”) of a property located at Shop B on ground floor, Railway
Plaza, N0.39 Chatham Road South, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
at a consideration of HK$206,800,000. An initial and further deposit
of HK$8,000,000 and HK$12,680,000 had been paid on 1 June 2021
and 8 June 2021, respectively. The remaining sum of HK$186,120,000
shall be paid on or before 16 August 2021 upon the completion of the
Acquisition which is scheduled to take place.

Save as disclosed above, the Group has no other future plan relating to
material investment or capital assets as at the date of this annual report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
HETWY

The Directors are pleased to present this annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY 2020/21.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and
its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the business of building
construction, property leasing and property development. Details of the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 27 to
the financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature
of the Group's principal activities during FY 2020/21.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for FY 2020/21 are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on page 56 of this annual report.

An interim dividend of 4.0 HK cents per Share was paid on 16 December
2020. The Board recommends payment of a final dividend of 4.0 HK
cents per Share to Shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on 20 August 2021. Subject to approval by the
Shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting, the proposed
final dividend warrants is expected to be dispatched to Shareholders on
3 September 2021.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board is not aware of any
Shareholders who have waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

It is the Company'’s policy to reward Shareholders in participating
the Company’s profit whilst retaining adequate capital for business
development. The Board may declare or propose payment of dividends
after taking into account a number of factors, including the results of
operations, financial conditions, working capital, capital requirement and
other factors the Board may deem relevant.

The Company currently, subject to the factors and considerations above,
pays dividends twice a year in the form of interim and final dividend.
Cash dividends will be paid in Hong Kong dollars. Other distributions,
if any, will be paid to Shareholders by any means which the Directors
deem legal, fair and practicable.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

HPEFHE (H)

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the entitlement to attend and vote at
the forthcoming annual general meeting, the register of members of
the Company will be closed from 26 July 2021 to 29 July 2021, both
days inclusive, during which period no share transfer will be effected.
In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual
general meeting, all share transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 23 July 2021.

For the purpose of determining the entitlement to the proposed final
dividend, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from 18 August 2021 to 20 August 2021, both days inclusive, during
which period no share transfer will be effected. In order to qualify for
entitlement to the proposed final dividend, all share transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company'’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m.
on 17 August 2021.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and the outlook of
the Group’s business are provided in the Chairman'’s Statement section
from pages 6 to 9 of this annual report. Description of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group can be found in the Chairman’s
Statement, including the financial risks mentioned in the Management
Discussion and Analysis section and note 29 to the financial statements.
Particulars of the events that have occurred since the end of the
reporting period are provided in note 33 to the financial statements.
An analysis of the Group's performance during the year using financial
key performance indicators is provided in the Financial Highlights and
Management Discussion and Analysis sections of this annual report. All
the above sections form part of this report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

HEFHE ()

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers and business partners
are the keys to the sustainable development to the Group. The Group is
committed to building a close and caring relationship with its employees
and business partners, and improving the quality of services and
products to the customers.

Employees are regarded as the most vital and valuable assets of the
Group. The Group ensures that all staffs are reasonably remunerated,
regular seminars on safety for specific type of works and activities and
safety induction training are provided for all employees as well as the
subcontractors’ employees.

The Group stays connected with its customers and has ongoing
communication with them through various channels such as physical
meetings, telephone and electronic mail communication to obtain their
feedback and suggestions.

The Group establishes long-term business relationship with the
subcontractors. Through the past dealings with the subcontractors,
the Group has acquired sufficient appreciation of their expertise and
strengths so that it would enable us to maintain our quality standards.

The Group also places effort to build up and maintain good relationship
with various commercial banks as the Group's businesses are capital
intensive and require on-going funding to maintain continuous growth.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Company endeavours to protect the environment in which it
operates its business. The Group’s construction and data centre leasing
segment have established environmental management systems and
were certified by Certification Asia (HK) Limited to be in compliance with
the requirements of ISO 14001:2004.

During FY 2020/21, there was no material non-compliance in relation
to air pollution, noise control, disposal and emission of construction
wastes. Green office practices are also encouraged in the operation
of the Group's businesses, such as double-sided printing and copying,
setting up recycling bins, sending and presenting corporate documents
or information to the members of the Board in electronic format, and
reducing energy consumption by switching off idle lighting and electrical
appliances.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

HPEFHE (H)

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

The “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of the Company
prepared in accordance with Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) will be
published within three months after the publication of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During FY 2020/21, no material non-compliance of the laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Company was noted. In
addition, discussion on the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code is included in the Corporate Governance Report.

DONATIONS
Donations made by the Group during the year amounted to HK$16,000.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group is set out on
page 5 of this annual report.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in fixed assets (including investment properties
and property, plant and equipment) during the year are set out in note
15 to the financial statements.

BANK LOANS
Details of bank loans of the Group as at 31 March 2021 are set out in
note 21 to the financial statements.

INTEREST CAPITALISED
The amount of interest capitalised by the Group during the year is set
out in note 8(a) to the financial statements.

SHARE ISSUED AND SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in note 24 to the
financial statements.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 60 of this annual report and in note 25(b) to the financial
statements, respectively.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

HEFHE ()

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of sales attributable to the Group's largest customer
and the five largest customers in aggregate was 75.4% and 92.7% of the
Group's total sales for the year respectively.

The percentage of purchases attributable to the Group's largest supplier
and the five largest suppliers in aggregate was 10.9% and 31.2% of the
Group’s total purchases for the year respectively.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, none of the Directors, their close
associates or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors
own more than 5% of the Company's total number of issued shares) had
an interest in the five largest suppliers or customers of the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association (the “Articles”) and there is no restriction against such rights
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing Shareholders.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Independent Non-
Executive Directors
Mr. Tsui Ka Wah

Mr. Kan Yau Wo

Mr. Mok Kwai Pui Bill

Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Hung Ming (Chairman)
Mr. Lau Chi Wah

Mr. Yuen Ying Wai

Mr. Kwan Wing Wo

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Articles, one-third of the Directors for the
time being shall retire from office by rotation at each annual general
meeting, provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at
least once every three years. The retiring Directors will be eligible for re-
election. It is proposed that Mr. Chan Hung Ming, Mr. Yuen Ying Wai and
Mr. Kan Yau Wo shall retire from office by rotation and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election as Directors at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

HPEFHE (H)

DIRECTORS' AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group as of 31 March 2021 are set out on pages 28 to 34 of this annual
report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from
9 August 2013, being the listing date of the Company (the “Listing
Date”), and such appointment continued thereafter unless terminated in
accordance with the terms of the service agreement.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing
from 9 August 2019, and such appointment may be terminated in
accordance with the terms of the letter of appointment.

Apart from the foregoing, no Director proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE OF THE INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that
all independent non-executive Directors are independent.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the year and up to the date of this annual report, the Company
has in force indemnity provisions as permitted under the relevant
statutes for the benefit of the Directors of the Company. The permitted
indemnity provisions are provided for in the Articles and in the directors
and officers liability insurance maintained for the Group in respect of
potential liability and costs associated with legal proceedings that may
be brought against such Directors.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

HEFHE ()

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executives in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO") which (a)
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which they are taken or deemed to have such provisions
of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) were required,
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Name of Group member/

Capacity/Nature of

EFREFETHRAESRKR  HEERH
R (&R RE R B RE am R3¢

RIBEZ—F=ZRA=+—H EFRITETEA
ERAABDHHAEMERER (EXRBHRHY
E1IRPIEEXVER) Z D BEARM RE#ET » %
B@IREE T RAERGISEXVER ST R8N B 2R
ERMERAB KRB AZ EmRKE (BER
BRSAERAZRERD S ARG IEEE
ZRmRHA) 5 WOIREB TR AERH] 55352
HRECABFEZECBRZERRKE
HORFE LT RARAERETEFIZHNRETR
(MREFR) BNEXRRE) KRB A2 B R
MEWTH

Number of Approximate
Shares held percentage of

Name of Director associated corporation interest (Note 1) shareholding
TEEBEEAT FERKHE
EEN4A LR TS 510 #mtE (G11) RIEBLAT DL
Mr. Chan Hung Ming The Company Interest of a controlled 956,642,940 (L) 67.39%
corporation (Note 2)
FRFLAR S A4 /NS RELE R (312)
Chan HM Company Limited Beneficial owner 1 100%
EmEAA
Mr. Lau Chi Wah The Company Interest of a controlled 106,293,660(L) 7.49%

corporation (Note 3)

E /NS

1. The Letter “L" denotes the Directors’ long position in the Shares or the
relevant associated corporation.

2. Mr. Chan Hung Ming holds 100% of the issued share capital of Chan
HM Company Limited, which owns 956,642,940 Shares out of the total
number of issued shares of the Company. Therefore, Mr. Chan Hung Ming
is deemed to have the same interest in the Company by virtue of SFO.

3. Mr. Lau Chi Wah holds 100% of the issued share capital of Lau CW
Company Limited, which owns 106,293,660 Shares out of the total number
of issued shares of the Company. Therefore, Mr. Lau Chi Wah is deemed to
have the same interest in the Company by virtue of SFO.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

HPEFHE (H)

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company has or is deemed to have any interests or short positions in
the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations as at 31 March 2021.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2021, so far as the Directors were aware, the following
persons/entity (not being the Directors or chief executives of the
Company) had, or were deemed to have interests or short positions
in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company or any of its
associated corporations which were required to be notified to the
Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were
recorded in the register of the Company required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO:

EReEnC R B S =0 L = =
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REA R AT REEABHER 2RO BRER
PEEREE RBEREESKE -

Igﬂziﬁ"ﬂzﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁﬂzﬁﬁ’ﬁ B33
|

I

WS- —E=A=+—H0 REEFD LT
AL/ B (I EERA DD EBTHAD 1
A /A B ELAE (AR £ B R 1D AR AR 9 o »
A SRR A T RIR S 5 R B S R B XV 2B
H2ORIDBABNAAARERF ATV RAE
R 5 1 3361 BTN 7 B 2 B0 E
B

Number of Approximate

Shares held percentage of

Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest (Note 1) shareholding

FERKGEE

RS 517 #mtE (F1) IEHEBAIB L

Chan HM Company Limited Beneficial owner 956,642,940 (L) 67.39%
BmEEA

Lau CW Company Limited Beneficial owner 106,293,660(L) 7.49%
BaHEAA

Ms. Cheung Shuk Fong Family (Note 2) 106,293,660(L) 7.49%

RS LT Kk (322)

Note:

1. The Letter “L" denotes the person’s/entity’s long position in the Shares or
the relevant Group member.

2. Ms. Cheung Shuk Fong, the spouse of Mr. Lau Chi Wah, is deemed to be
interested in Mr. Lau’s interest in our Company by virtue of the SFO.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (Continued)

HEFHE ()

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any
other relevant interests or short positions in the total number of issued
shares of the Company as at 31 March 2021 which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Interests and Short Positions
of Directors and Chief Executives in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures of the Company and its Associated Corporations” above, at
no time during FY 2020/21 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
or any holding company or any subsidiary of the Company’s holding
company, a party to any arrangement that would enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors or
any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted any
right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company or
any other body corporate or had exercised any such right.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
Save for their respective interests in the Group, none of the Directors
was interested in any business which competes or is likely to compete
with the businesses of the Group for FY 2020/21.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 23 January 2021, Able Business Development Limited (an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and as vendor) entered into
a preliminary agreement for sale and purchase with Ms. Cheung Shuk
Fong (“Ms. Cheung”, as purchaser) to dispose of a car parking space
in Cristallo (the “Transaction”) at a consideration of HK$4,000,000.
Ms. Cheung, by virtue of being the spouse of Mr. Lau Chi Wah who is
an executive Director, is an associate of a connected person of the
Company under Rule 14A.12 of the Listing Rules. Hence the Transaction
constituted a connected transaction of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. Since one of the applicable percentage ratios
in respect of the Transaction exceeded 5% but all are less than 25%, the
Transaction was subject to reporting and announcement requirements
under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. The Transaction was completed on
24 March 2021. Details of the Transaction were set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 23 January 2021 and 9 June 2021.

Save as disclosed above, a summary of material related party
transactions made during FY 2020/21, which included the abovesaid
connected transaction of the Company, is disclosed in note 32 to
the financial statements. To the extent that the Group’s related
party transactions constituted connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in the Listing Rules, the Company had
complied with the relevant disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules during FY 2020/21.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
Save as disclosed in this annual report, no Director or any entity
connected with a Director had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to
the business of the Group to which the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries or any of its fellow subsidiaries was a party
during or at the end the year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER'S INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

None of the Company or any of its subsidiaries had entered into any
contract of significance or contract of significance for provision of
services with the Company’s controlling shareholder (“Controlling
Shareholder”) or its subsidiaries during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

DIRECTORS’' REMUNERATION
Details of the Directors’ remuneration during the year are set out in note
11 to the financial statements.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

The Controlling Shareholder had confirmed to the Company of each
of his compliance with the non-competition undertakings provided to
the Company under the Deed of Non-Competition (as defined in the
Prospectus). The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the status of compliance and confirmed that all the undertakings
under the Deed of Non-Competition have been complied with by the
Controlling Shareholder.

PENSION SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) for all its qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in funds
under the control of trustees. Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make contributions to
the scheme at rates specified in the rules.

In addition to the MPF Scheme in Hong Kong, the Group is also required
to contribute a certain percentage of employee’s monthly basic salaries
to the defined contribution retirement scheme in the People’s Republic
of China.
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During FY 2020/21, the aggregate amounts of employer’s contributions
made by the Group were approximately HK$2.87 million.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 23
July 2013 (the “Adoption Date”). The purpose of the Scheme is to attract
and retain the best quality personnel, to provide additional incentives to
them to promote the long term success of the Group. Pursuant to the
Scheme, the Board may, at its own discretion, grant options to any full-
time or part-time employee, executives, officers, directors (including
executive, non-executive, and independent non-executive Directors),
consultants, advisors, suppliers, customers, agents and other persons
whom the Board determines have or will have contribution to the Group.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number
of shares in issue upon the Listing Date, being 40,000,000 Shares (the
“Scheme Limit"). Subject to Shareholders’ approval in general meeting,
the Board may (i) renew this limit at any time to 10% of the shares in
issue as at the date of the approval by the Shareholders in general
meeting, and/or (i) grant options beyond the Scheme Limit to eligible
participants specifically identified by the Board.

The number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company at any time shall
not exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time. No options
shall be granted under any schemes of the Company (including the
Scheme) if this will result in the limit being exceeded.

The total number of shares issuable upon exercise of the options
granted under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company to each eligible participant in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the shares in issue. Any further grant of options is
subject to Shareholders’ approval in general meeting with such eligible
participant and his associates abstaining from voting.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may determine
which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant subject to the
provisions of early termination thereof. The Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of ten years commencing from the Adoption Date.
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A consideration of HK$1.0 is payable on acceptance of the grant of
an option. Pursuant to the Scheme, the participants may subscribe
for the shares of the Company on exercise of an option at the price
determined by the Board provided that it shall be at least the highest
of: (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotation sheets on the date of grant, which must be a business
day; (i) the average of the closing prices of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of
the Share.

No options had been granted, exercised or cancelled under the Scheme
since the Adoption Date up to the date of this report.

SHARE AWARD PLAN

The Company adopted a share award plan (the “Share Award Plan” or
the “SAP") on the Adoption Date. Subject to and in accordance with the
rules of the SAP, the Board may make an award of shares to certain
classes of eligible participants as specified in the SAR as determined
by the Board from time to time on the basis of the Board’s opinion as
to the proposed awardee’s contribution and/or future contribution to
the development and growth of the Group. The SAP shall be subject
to the administration of the Board, or such committee or such sub-
committee or person(s) delegated with the power and authority by
the Board to administer the SAP. The shares and other trust fund for
the implementation of the Share Award Plan shall be administered
by a trustee or trustees (the “Share Award Plan trustee”, or the “SAP
trustee”) to be appointed by the Company. Under the SAP, the Board
shall determine the eligibility of the eligible participants and the number
of shares to be awarded (the “Awarded Shares”) and notify the SAP
trustee of the making of awards. The SAP trustee shall then set aside
the appropriate number of the Awarded Shares pending the transfer
and vest to the relevant participants out of a pool of shares which shall
comprise of, among others, shares either (1) () transferred to it from any
person (other than the Group) by way of gift; or (i) purchased by the SAP
trustee out of the funds received by the SAP trustee by way of gift or
for nominal consideration; (2) subscribed for or purchased by the Share
Award Plan trustee out of the funds allocated by the Board out of the
Group's resources (“Group’s Contribution”), subject to the terms and
conditions of the rules of the SAP; (3) purchased by the SAP trustee by
utilising any surplus gift contribution, or the net proceeds of the sale of
the relevant nil-paid rights, options or warrants allocated to it in respect
of the Awarded Shares; (4) which remain unvested and revert to the SAP
trustee in accordance with the rules of the SAP.
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The SAP trustee may purchase shares on the Stock Exchange at the
prevailing market prices or off the market. In respect of off-market
transactions, purchases shall not be made with any connected person,
nor shall the purchase price be higher than the lower of (1) the closing
market price on the date of such purchase, and (2) the average closing
market price for the five preceding trading days on which Shares of the
Company were traded on the Stock Exchange. At the beginning of each
financial year of the Group, the Board shall determine the maximum
amount of the Group’s Contribution to be allocated to the SAP trustee
(or via a special purpose vehicle which may be established by the SAP
trustee subject to the provisions of the trust deed to be executed by the
Company as settlor and the SAP trustee as trustee, shortly as “Share
Award Plan SPV") during such financial year, provided that the maximum
numbers of Shares which may be awarded for each financial year under
the SAP shall not exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue
at the beginning of such financial year. The Share Award Plan trustee
may also subscribe for new Shares at par or at such other subscription
price as instructed by the Board out of the Group’s Contribution if
the Board considers it appropriate to do so. Prior approval from the
Shareholders is not required for the Directors to allot and issue new
Shares under the SAP to the SAP trustee, provided that the Directors
have sufficient unissued shares within the general mandate on hand
subject to certain limitations under the SAP. The Company shall comply
with the relevant listing rules when granting the Awarded Shares. the
legal and beneficial ownership of the relevant awarded Shares shall
be vested in the relevant selected participant within 10 business days
after the latest of (1) the date specified in the notice of the award given
by the Board to the SAP trustee; and (2) where applicable, the date on
which the condition(s) or performance target(s) (if any) to be attained
by such selected participant as specified in the related notice of award
have been attained and notified to the Share Award Plan trustee by the
Board in writing. Neither the SAP trustee nor Share Award Plan SPV (if so
established and subsisting) shall exercise the voting rights in respect of
the Shares held under trust. The Share Award Plan will remain in force
for a period of ten years commencing on the Adoption Date.

No Shares had been awarded under the Share Award Plan since the
Adoption Date up to the date of this report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities during FY 2020/21.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with all the
code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (“CG
Code") as contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules throughout the
FY 2020/21. Details are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 35 to 47.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION
The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report, the
Company has maintained the prescribed minimum public float under the
Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for FY 2020/21 have been audited
by BDO Limited. A resolution for the re-appointment of BDO Limited as
auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Chan Hung Ming
Chairman

Hong Kong, 18 June 2021

EEER

EERR ARER2020/21FERNBET LR
A S+ Op i ER T RIFT ST A T AR -
BRAFBHNEBEI/ENEEE RS IAC

MBRAREBR
ARBBAMEBEWARRFTER QB ES
MmEKREFREZMBRBAKREE

RRARGRE
REFHRBH REARADAELAHENKRES
PRANZE » xR RREF EHRAPARENRE LR

FRE-

% 2L
2020/2NFENGEYBRREABTBUGERER
CEMEBFAARATEZ - AIRBITHRRS
FRELRIEZEEMEZEETBIUCRERIGSH
EHFABARABIERERTZBENEYRZEZE -

RREFE

ZE
BRFLEA

&s8 _E-—®F,B+N\H

27

EMHSE PR A TR A F] 2020721 E#HRES



BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

2R e R A P i T

Details of the biographies of Directors and senior management as of 31
March 2021 are listed as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Hung Ming, aged 67, is our chairman and executive Director.
He is also our Controlling Shareholder and a director of all subsidiaries
of our Group. Pursuant to Part XV of the SFO, Mr. Chan is interested in
956,642,940 Shares, representing 67.39% of the number of the issued
shares of the Company, as at the date of this annual report.

Mr. Chan is a co-founder of our Group and has participated in the
management of our Group since 1995. He is primarily responsible for
formulating the overall strategic development and direction of the
business development of our Group. He has accumulated over 47 years'
experience in construction and property development field and 13
years' experience in data centre leasing business.

Mr. Chan holds a Higher Certificate in Building Technology from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic (now known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University).

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Chan is not connected with any existing
Directors, senior management, substantial Shareholders or Controlling
Shareholders.

Mr. Lau Chi Wah, aged 56, is our executive Director and chief
executive officer. He is also a director of all subsidiaries of our Group.
Pursuant to Part XV of the SFO, Mr. Lau is interested in 106,293,660
Shares, representing 7.49% of the number of the issued shares of the
Company, as at the date of this annual report.

Mr. Lau is a co-founder of our Group and has participated in the
management of our Group since 1995. He is primarily responsible for
formulating the overall strategic planning of our Group and overseeing
the business development, administrative and compliance matters
of our Group. He had over 32 years of audit, accounting and finance
experience.

Mr. Lau holds an Honour Diploma in Accountancy from the Lingnan
College (now known as the Lingnan University) and Master's Degree
in Professional Accounting from Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He
is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA").

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lau is not connected with any existing

Directors, senior management, substantial Shareholders or Controlling
Shareholder.
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Mr. Yuen Ying Wai, aged 58, is our executive Director. He also holds
directorship in most of the subsidiaries of our Group. Mr. Yuen joined our
Group in 2001 and has participated in the management of our Group
since 2007.

Mr. Yuen is responsible for the overall management of the construction
and data centre leasing business. He has over 37 years’ experience in
quantity surveying and construction project management and 13 years'
experience in the construction of high tier data centre and the related
leasing matters.

Mr. Yuen holds a Certificate in Civil Engineering Studies from the
Hong Kong Vocational Training Council, a National Certificate in Civil
Engineering Studies from Business & Technician Education Council, a
Higher Certificate in Civil Engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
(now known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University), and a Diploma in
Surveying from the College of Estate Management in United Kingdom.
He is a member of both the Society of Surveying Technician and the
Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Yuen did not have any interests
or underlying interests in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Yuen is not connected with any existing
Directors, senior management, substantial Shareholders or Controlling
Shareholder.

Mr. Kwan Wing Wo, aged 53, is our executive Director and chief
financial officer. He also holds directorship in certain subsidiaries of our
Group. Mr. Kwan joined the Group in 2008 and has participated in the
management of the Group since then.

Mr. Kwan is responsible for the corporate finance, accounting, taxation,
investment and administrative matters of our Group. He has over 30
years' experience in auditing, accounting and finance field. Prior to
joining our Group, Mr. Kwan held a management position in a listed
company in Hong Kong for 12 years and was mainly responsible for
its finance, financial reporting obligations, accounting, taxation and
administrative matters.
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Mr. Kwan holds a Bachelor's degree in Accountancy from the City
University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants of United Kingdom and a member of the HKICPA.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Kwan did not have any interests
or underlying interests in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Kwan is not connected with any existing
Directors, senior management, substantial Shareholders or Controlling
Shareholder.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tsui Ka Wah, aged 68, is our independent non-executive Director
since 23 July 2013. He is also the chairman of the remuneration
committee (“Remuneration Committee”) and a member of each of the
audit committee (“Audit Committee”) and the nomination committee
(“Nomination Committee”) of the Company.

Mr. Tsui has 33 years of banking experience with United States and local
banks, and has held various management positions in corporate, retail
and private banking. Currently he holds the position of chief executive
officer of SME Credit Company Limited. He is also an independent
non-executive director of Oriental Explorer Holdings Limited (stock
code: 430), Multifield International Holdings Limited (stock code: 898)
and Southeast Asia Properties & Finance Limited (stock code: 252)
respectively, whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

Mr. Tsui holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree and a Master's Degree of
Business Administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Tsui did not have any interests or
underlying interests in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO.

Mr. Tsui is not connected with any existing Directors, senior
management, substantial Shareholders or Controlling Shareholder.
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Mr. Kan Yau Wo, aged 68, is our independent non-executive
Director since 23 July 2013. He is also the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee of the Company.

Mr. Kan has been working with Fujitsu’s group of companies for over 30
years and was appointed as the president in Fujitsu Hong Kong Ltd. in
2007 and then the chief executive officer of Fujitsu’s South China and
Hong Kong Region. Mr. Kan retired from his position in Fujitsu’s group of
companies in 2011.

Mr. Kan graduated from University of Hull in United Kingdom with
Bachelor of Science (First Class Honour) in Computer Studies and
Mathematics.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Kan did not have any interests or
underlying interests in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO.

Mr. Kan is not connected with any existing Directors, senior
management, substantial Shareholders or Controlling Shareholder.

Mr. Mok Kwai Pui Bill, aged 60, is our independent non-executive
Director since 23 July 2013. He is also the chairman of the Audit
Committee, and a member of each of the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee of the Company.

Mr. Mok has 33 years' experience in accounting, finance and banking
in Hong Kong and Mainland China with specific expertise in managing
financial and accounting operations, fund raising, investor relations and
executing corporate strategy. Mr. Mok is currently the chief financial
officer and company secretary of China Education Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 839, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange). He was an independent non-executive director of PF
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8221, a company listed on the GEM
of the Stock Exchange) from December 2016 to December 2020.

Mr. Mok holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Business Administration from
the University of Washington in the United States and a Master Degree in
Business Administration from the Seattle University in the United States.
He is a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the HKICPA respectively.
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As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Mok did not have any interests
or underlying interests in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO.

Mr. Mok is not connected with any existing Directors, senior
management, substantial Shareholders or Controlling Shareholder.

Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny, aged 77, is our independent non-
executive Director since 23 July 2013. He is also a member of each of
the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company.

With over 21 years' experience in the field of architecture, Mr. Lee
worked in several architect firms including as a director from 1995 to
2009. From 2009, Mr. Lee has been working for an architecture company
as a project director.

Mr. Lee graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor’s
Degree in Architecture. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Architects and a registered architect with Architects Registration Board
in Hong Kong. Mr. Lee is also an authorised person within the List of
Architects maintained by the Buildings Department.

As at the date of this annual report, Mr. Lee did not have any interests or
underlying interests in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO.

Mr. Lee is not connected with any existing Directors, senior
management, substantial Shareholders or Controlling Shareholder.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Au-Yeung Yiu Wai, aged 65, joined our group in 1997 and is a
project director of our construction business responsible for supervising
our project managers and overseeing the construction matters. He is
also a director of Grand Tech Construction Company Limited. Mr. Au-
Yeung possesses over 40 years' experience in the construction industry.

Mr. Au-Yeung holds a Higher Certificate in Civil Engineering from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University), Bachelor of Science in Building from Brighton Polytechnic
(now known as University of Brighton) and a Diploma in Construction
Management from the Hong Kong Construction Industry Training
Authority. Mr. Au-Yeung is a member of both the Chartered Institute of
Building and the Hong Kong Institute of Construction Managers.
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Mr. Chan Sik Nin, aged 56, joined our group in 2013 and is the general
manager of our data centre leasing business responsible for such
business development and operation. Mr. Chan possesses over 17
years’ experience in the data centre industry and managed to succeed
major deals in providing high-tier data centre services for meeting the
stringent requirements from customers. Prior to joining our Group, he
was the Vice President of Sales & Business Development, and then
re-designated as the Vice President of Corporate Development of
iAdvantage Limited, a subsidiary of SUNeVision Holdings Ltd. (stock
code: 1686, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange).

Mr. Chan holds a Master of Business Administration degree from the
University of Canberra, a Diploma in Marketing & International Business
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong, and a Professional Diploma
in Business Studies from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University).

Ms. Ngan King Fung, aged 54, joined our group in 2016 and is
the director of sales & marketing responsible for all aspects of sales
and marketing of our properties portfolio in the Hong Kong property
market. Ms. Ngan has over 29 years' extensive experience in sales and
marketing field of the property industry. Prior to joining our group, she
worked for various listed developer companies in Hong Kong and was
responsible for their development’s sales and marketing matters.

Ms. Ngan obtained a Master of Business Administration from University
of Wales.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Leung Wai Chuen, aged 55, is the company secretary of the
Company since July 2013. Mr. Leung has over 30 years' experience in
auditing, accounting, financial management and company secretarial
matters. Prior to joining our Group, he worked for and held senior
positions in various listed companies in Hong Kong and was responsible
for their finance, accounting and company secretarial functions.
Currently he is an independent non-executive director of E Lighting
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8222, a company listed on the GEM
of the Stock Exchange). He is also appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Fourace Industries Group Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1455, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange)
on August 2020. Mr. Leung was a non-executive director of MOS House
Group Limited (stock code: 1653, a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange) from November 2017 to August 2019.
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Mr. Leung is a member of the HKICPA, a fellow of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants of the United Kingdom and an associate
of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators) in England respectively. He holds a
Bachelor’s Degree in Social Sciences from the University of Hong Kong,
a Master's Degree in Business Administration jointly awarded by the
University of Wales and the University of Manchester and a Master's
Degree in Business (Logistics Management) from the Royal Melbourne
Institute of Technology (now known as RMIT University).

Save as disclosed above, each of the senior management and the
company secretary of our Company has not been a director of any other
publicly listed company during the three years preceding the date of this
annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EREIRRS

COMMITMENT TO CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company acknowledges the importance of good corporate
governance practices and procedures, and regards a pre-eminent
board of directors, sound internal controls and accountability to
all Shareholders as the core elements of its corporate governance
principles. The Company endeavours to ensure that its businesses are
conducted in accordance with rules and regulations, and applicable
codes and standards.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with all the
code provisions as set out in the CG Code as contained in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules throughout FY 2020/21.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

1. Responsibilities of the Board
The Board is primarily responsible for management of the Group,
including the responsibilities of formulating business strategies,
directing and monitoring the Group’s development. Apart from its
statutory responsibilities, the Board is also required to approve
the Group's strategic development plan and major investments;
review the Group’s financial performance; identify principal risks
of the Group's business and ensure adequate systems of risk
management and internal control. The Board also delegates
certain responsibilities to various board committees which have
been established by the Board to deal with different aspects of the
Company's affairs.

The day-to-day operations and administration are delegated to the
management of the Group under the leadership of the executive
Directors.

2. Board Composition
The Board currently comprises eight members, as detailed below:

Independent
Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Tsui Ka Wah

Mr. Kan Yau Wo

Mr. Mok Kwai Pui Bill

Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Hung Ming (Chairman)
Mr. Lau Chi Wah

Mr. Yuen Ying Wai

Mr. Kwan Wing Wo

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 28 to
32 of this annual report. There is no financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship among members of the Board.
A list of Directors and their roles and functions has been published
on the Company’s website.
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The Board has adopted a board diversity policy with the aim
of achieving diversity on the Company's Board. The Company
recognises the benefits of having a diverse Board, and sees
diversity of perspectives at the Board level as essential in
achieving a sustainable and balanced development. In designing
the Board’'s composition, board diversity has been considered
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge, industry experience and expertise. All Board
appointments are based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against a variety of criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

Currently, the Board comprises Directors with diverse backgrounds
and/or extensive expertise in corporate management, with over
50% of the Directors possessing professional qualifications.

When identifying suitable candidates for directorship, the
Nomination Committee will carry out the selection process by
making reference to the skills, experience, education background,
professional knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments
of the proposed candidates, and also the Company’s needs and
other relevant statutory requirements and regulations required for
the positions. All candidates must be able to meet the standards
as set forth in Rules 3.08 and 3.09 of the Listing Rules. A candidate
who is to be appointed as an independent non-executive Director
should also meet the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. Qualified candidates will then be recommended
to the Board for approval.

All executive Directors have served the Group for over seven years
and all independent non-executive Directors were appointed with
effect from the Listing Date. The term of office of all independent
non-executive Directors has been fixed for a specific term of
not more than three years. The Board is subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the Company’s annual general meeting
in accordance with the Articles.

The Company has complied with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules
and met the requirement of Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules of at
least one-third of the members of the Board being independent
non-executive Directors. In addition, Mr. Mok Kwai Pui Bill, one
of the independent non-executive Directors, has the appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Biographies of Directors
and Senior Management” in this annual report, there is no
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship
among members of the Board.
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3. Board and Board Committee Meetings 3. EXEEKREFEEZEEEE
The Board's attendance in the general meetings, board meetings %%ﬁﬁAZOZO/mfﬁfﬁfﬁx%k‘% P EE
and board committee meetings during FY 2020/21 are as follows: EEENESREEERUWT .
Meetings Attended/Held
GRHERY ¥

Annual
Audit Remuneration  Nomination General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting

e BREEY HFHESS RYEEE RREEARE

Executive Directors HiITES

Mr. Chan Hung Ming FRFLARA S 5/5 - . - 11
Mr. Lau Chi Wah EERE 5/5 - _ _ 171
Mr. Yuen Ying Wai REBREE 5/5 - _ _ 171
Mr. Kwan Wing Wo R4 5/5 - = - 7

Independent Non-Executive BIIIEHMITES

Directors
M. Tsui Ka Wah BRELE 5/5 2/2 11 il 1”1
Mr. Kan Yau Wo ERMEE 5/5 2/2 1/1 "N il
Mr. Mok Kwai Pui Bll RERRE 5/5 2/2 11 11 11
Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny ERIBSRE 5/5 2/2 11 il 1”1
4. conflict of Interest 4. FmER
If a Director has a potential conflict of interest in a matter being 1h%%$ﬁ?%$ﬁﬂ%—?%ﬁﬂ’]$lﬁ¢'ﬁﬁ
considered in the board meeting, he will abstain from voting. BEANGZER FRBERERRA BN =G
Independent non-executive Directors with no conflict of interest thﬂ%_dﬁﬂﬁ%%Hqﬁf DR RIE AR
will be present at meetings dealing with such conflict of interest MmEENEIE-
issues.
5. Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance 5. EEREHRBEEERRE
The Company has appropriate and sufficient insurance coverage KRBIEAEERERBESERERS
relating to directors’ and officers’ liability to indemnify the RESHNEE UBREEEREREIERE
Directors and senior management against any potential liabilities AEREABEEMNEAARBDERMEEDN
arising from the Company’s business activities for which such BEEMT-

Directors and senior management may be held liable.
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6. Directors’ Time Commitments and Trainings

The Company has received confirmation from each Director that
he had sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company
for the year. The Directors have disclosed to the Company the
number and nature of offices they held in Hong Kong or overseas
listed public companies or organisations and other significant
commitments, with the identity of the public companies and
organisations and an indication of the time involved. They are
reminded to notify the Company in a timely manner of any
changes of such information. All Directors are encouraged to
attend the Board meeting and board committee meeting in
person. For the Directors and committee members who are
unable to attend the meeting, participation through electronic
means is arranged and available.

All Directors, namely, Mr. Chan Hung Ming, Mr. Lau Chi Wah,
Mr. Yuen Ying Wai, Mr. Kwan Wing Wo, Mr. Tsui Ka Wah, Mr. Kan
Yau Wo, Mr. Mok Kwai Pui Bill and Mr. Lee Chung Yiu Johnny,
had participated in continuous professional development with
respect to directors duties, relevant programmes and seminars,
in compliance with code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code. A record
of the Directors’ participation in such programmes is kept by
the Company. Reading materials on the latest developments or
updates in connection to the Group’s businesses, accounting,
regulatory and corporate governance aspects were provided
to the Directors. They also received monthly financial highlights
provided by the management.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual.

The chairman and the chief executive officer are currently two separate
positions held by Mr. Chan Hung Ming and Mr. Lau Chi Wah respectively
with clear distinction in responsibilities.

Mr. Chan Hung Ming, being the chairman, is responsible for the
management and leadership of the Board to formulate overall strategies
and business development directions for the Group, to ensure that
adequate, complete and reliable information is provided to all Directors
in a timely manner, and to ensure that the issues raised at the Board
meetings are explained appropriately.
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Mr. Lau Chi Wah, being the chief executive officer, is responsible for
the daily operations of the Group and the implementation of business
policies, objectives and plans as formulated and adopted by the Board,
and is accountable to the Board for the overall operation of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties. Given below are the main corporate governance duties of the
Board:

(i)  to develop and review the Company's policies and practices on
corporate governance,

(i) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management of the
Company;

(i) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees of the Group
and the Directors; and

(V) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

The Board had reviewed the corporate governance matters of the
Company for FY 2020/21. The Company had complied with the
principles and applicable code provisions of the CG Code.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established three committees, namely, the Remuneration
Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination Committee, for overseeing
particular aspects of the Group's affairs and discharging its functions.
Sufficient resources are provided to enable the Board committees to
undertake their specific role.

1.  Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 23 July
2013 with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing
Rules. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the website of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
The Remuneration Committee consists of all four independent
non-executive Directors. The current members are Mr. Tsui Ka Wah
(chairperson), Mr. Kan Yau Wo, Mr. Mok Kwai Pui Bill and Mr. Lee
Chung Yiu Johnny.
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The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include,
among others, (i) making recommendation to the Board on
the policy and structure for Directors and senior management;
(i) reviewing and approving the management’'s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’'s corporate goal and
objective; (iii) making recommendation to the Board on the
remuneration packages of executive Directors and senior
management and remuneration of non-executive Directors;
and (iv) ensuring none of the Directors determine their own
remuneration.

During FY 2020/21, the Remuneration Committee held one
meeting to review the remuneration policy and structure
of the Directors and senior management, review and make
recommendations to the Board on the annual emoluments of the
Directors and other related matters.

Details of remuneration of Directors and senior management
are set out in note 11 and 12(b) to the financial statements
respectively.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 23 July 2013
with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing
Rules. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are
available on the website of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
The Audit Committee consists of all four independent non-
executive Directors. The current members are Mr. Mok Kwai Pui
Bill (chairperson), Mr. Tsui Ka Wah, Mr. Kan Yau Wo and Mr. Lee
Chung Yiu Johnny. Mr. Mok holds the appropriate professional
qualifications as required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the
Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, among others,
(i) making recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of external auditors; (i) reviewing
the financial statements, risk management and internal control
systems; and (iii) overseeing the financial reporting and the
effectiveness of the internal control procedures.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during FY 2020/21.
The committee members also met in separate session with the
external auditor without the presence of executive Directors.
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The work of the Audit Committee during the year included:

(i) reviewed the audited financial statements and annual results
announcement for the year ended 31 March 2020;

(i) reviewed the unaudited financial statements and interim
results announcement for the six months ended 30
September 2020; and

(il reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal controls system.

The Group's audited financial statements and annual results
announcement for FY 2020/21 were reviewed by the Audit
Committee on 18 June 2021.

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 23 July
2013 with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing
Rules. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
available on the website of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
The Nomination Committee consists of all four independent non-
executive Directors. The current members are Mr. Kan Yau Wo
(chairperson), Mr. Tsui Ka Wah, Mr. Mok Kwai Pui Bill and Mr. Lee
Chung Yiu Johnny.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board on regular
basis; to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members; to assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors; and to make recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors. In assessing
the suitability of a proposed candidate for directorship, the Board
will take into account the candidate’s qualification (including
professional qualifications, skill and knowledge), experience in
relation to the Group’s businesses and potential contribution that
can bring to the Company.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during FY 2020/21
to review the size, composition and diversity of the Board by
taking into account the necessary balance of skills and experience
appropriate for the requirements of the business development of
the Group and for effective leadership.
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DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in the Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiries to all Directors by
the Company, all Directors confirmed their compliance with the required
standard set out in the Model Code throughout FY 2020/21.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility to prepare
the financial statements that give a true and fair view of the Group’s
financial position and of its financial performance and cash flow
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the
applicable disclosures provisions of the Listing Rules. The management
provides information and explanation to the Board to enable it to
make an informed assessment of the financial and other decisions by
the Board. Accordingly, appropriate accounting policies are selected
and applied consistently, and judgements and estimates made by
the management for financial reporting purpose are prudent and
reasonable.

The responsibilities of the external auditor for the consolidated financial
statements of the Group are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report
on pages 48 to 55 of this annual report.

AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

The remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit services provided
by the Company's external auditor to the Group for FY 2020/21
are approximately HK$1,176,000 (FY 2019/20: HK$1,088,000) and
HK$145,000 (FY 2019/20: HK$145,000) respectively. The non-audit
services mainly include the Group's tax reporting services.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has the overall responsibility for maintaining a sound and
effective system of internal controls and risk management within
the Group, and reviewing its operational adequacy and effectiveness
through the Audit Committee.

The Board has identified the top risks of the Group and determined how
much risk the Board is willing to take to achieve the Group's strategic
objectives. The Group’s risk management structure matches with the
“Three Lines of Defense” model. Each business unit assumes risk
management responsibilities as the first line of defense. The middle
and back offices, including finance and accounting, company secretarial
and human resources departments, set up relevant internal control
and management procedures as the second line of defense. They also
perform financial, operational and compliance monitoring as well as risk
management functions. The internal auditor of the Group (the “Internal
Auditor”), as the third line of defense, provides independent and
objective assurance on the overall effectiveness of the internal control
and risk management system.
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Each business unit, as risk owners, identifies, evaluates, and monitors
its own risks, and reports such risk assessment on a monthly basis. The
results of the risk assessments and changes of the risk exposure faced
by the Group will be consolidated and presented to the Board at each
regularly scheduled meeting.

The Internal Auditor conducted reviews on systems of risk management
and internal controls of the Group over financial, operational and
compliance control according to the internal audit plan endorsed by
the Audit Committee. During the process of review, the Internal Auditor
identified internal control deficiencies and weakness, and proposed
recommendations for improvements and remedial actions with
management. The results of internal control review and management’s
remedial actions have also been reported to the Audit Committee at
each scheduled meeting.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of
the Group's risk management and internal controls system. During the
review, the Audit Committee also considered the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting and
financial reporting function and their training programs and budgets.

The Board, through the review by the Audit Committee, considers that
the Group's internal control and risk management system is effective
and adequate. No significant areas of concern that may affect the
financial, operational, compliance controls, and risk management
functions of the Group have been identified. The systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or 10ss.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has adopted and implemented its own disclosure policy
aiming to provide a general guide to Directors and management of the
Company in handling of confidential information and/or monitoring of
information disclosure pursuant to applicable laws and regulations in
compliance with the Listing Rules and SFO.

The disclosure policy provides the procedures and internal controls
for the handling and dissemination of inside information by publication
of the announcement to the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange on a timely basis to enable the public, namely Shareholders,
institutional investors, potential investors and other stakeholders of the
Company to access the latest information of the Group, unless such
information fall within the safe harbours with the SFO.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company also
recognises the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of
corporate information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to
make informed investment decisions.

The general meetings of the Company are expected to provide a forum
for communication between the Board and Shareholders. The chairman
of the Board as well as chairmen of the board committees and, in their
absence, other members of the respective committees are available
to answer questions at shareholder meetings. The Company’s external
auditor is also invited to attend the annual general meeting to answer
questions about the conduct of the audit and the preparation and
content of the Independent Auditor’s Report.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at www.grandming.com.hk, where information and updates on the
Group’s business developments and operations, financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are available for
public access.

The Company has established a shareholders” communication policy
which is posted on the Company’'s website and will review it on a
regular basis to ensure its effectiveness.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS
1. Convening Extraordinary General Meetings (“EGM")

The following procedures for Shareholders to convene an EGM of

the Company are prepared in accordance with the Articles:

(i) ~ One or more Shareholders (“Requisitionist(s)”) holding, at the
date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of
voting at general meetings, shall have the right, by written
notice, to require an EGM to be called by the directors for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

(i) Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the company secretary of the Company by post to the
Company's headquarter in Hong Kong at 22/F, Railway Plaza,
No. 39 Chatham Road South, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong
Kong, or by email to info@grandming.com.hk.
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(iii)

(iv)

The EGM shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition.

If the Board fails to proceed to convene the EGM within
21 days of such deposit, the Requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the Requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
Requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at

Shareholders’ Meetings

(i)

Proposal for election of a person other than a Director as a
Director:

A shareholder may propose a person other than a retiring
Director (“Candidate”) for election as a Director at a
general meeting by lodging the following documents at
the headquarter of the Company in Hong Kong or the
Company'’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services limited, at Level 54, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen'’s Road East, Hong Kong:

(@ a written notice (“Proposal Notice") of the intention to
propose the Candidate for election as a Director, which
must (i) state the information of the Candidate as
required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules, which is
available on the Stock Exchange's website (www.hkex.
com.hk) and (ii) must be signed by Shareholder; and

(b) a written notice (“Consent Notice”) by the Candidate,
which must (i) indicate his/her willingness to be
elected as a Director and consent to the publication
of his/her personal information as required by Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (i) must be signed by
the Candidate.

The Proposal Notice and the Consent Notice shall be lodged
for a period of at least 7 clear days commencing no earlier
than the day after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting and ending no later than 7 clear days before the
date of such general meeting.
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(i) Other Proposals:

If a Shareholder wishes to make other proposals (the
“Proposal(s)”) at a general meeting, he/she may lodge
a written request, duly signed, at the head office of the

Company in Hong Kong.

The notice period to be given to all the Shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the Shareholder
concerned at the general meeting varies according to the
nature of the Proposal as follows:

(1) Notice of not less than 21 clear days and not less
than 20 clear business days in writing if the Proposal
requires approval in an annual general meeting of the
Company.

(2)  Notice of not less than 21 clear days and not less
than 10 clear business days in writing if the Proposal
requires approval by way of a special resolution in an
extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

(3) Notice of not less than 14 clear days and not less
than 10 clear business days in writing if the Proposal
requires approval by way of an ordinary resolution in
an extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries to 3.
the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries in writing with their
detailed contact information to the company secretary of the
Company or the Board either by:

()  Post to the Company's headquarter in Hong Kong at 22/F,
Railway Plaza, No. 39 Chatham Road South, Tsim Sha Tsui,

Kowloon, Hong Kong; or

(i Email to info@grandming.com.hk
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During FY 2020/21, the Company did not amend its constitutional
documents.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary supports the chairman, the Board and the board
committees by ensuring good information flow and Board policy and
procedures are followed. The company secretary is an employee of the
Company and is appointed by the Board. The company secretary reports
to the chairman and chief executive officer. All directors may call upon
him for advice and assistance at any time in respect of his duties. The
company secretary obtained a practitioner’s endorsement of The Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and has taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training in compliance with the Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules. The biographical details of the company secretary
are shown on pages 33 to 34 of this annual report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

IBDO

EEE ¢ +852 2218 8288
{HE : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

To the shareholders of Grand Ming Group Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Grand
Ming Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 56 to 155 which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2021, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
cash flow statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

WG (A

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING CONCERN
We draw attention to Note 3(b) to the financial statements, which
indicates that the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets
by HK$948,248,000. As stated in Note 3(b), this condition indicates
that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not
modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described
in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have
determined the key audit matters described below to be key audit
matters to be communicated in our report.

Valuation of investment properties

Investment properties consist of two high-tier data centres, namely
iTech Tower 1 and iTech Tower 2 (the “Data Centres”) and two parcels of
land for development of data centres (the “Land Under Development”).
As disclosed in note 15 to the financial statements, the carrying amount
of these assets at fair value are amounted to HK$4,086,700,000 at 31
March 2021, representing 42% of the Group's total assets.

As disclosed in note 15(a) to the financial statements, an independent
firm of qualified professional valuer (the “valuer”) was engaged to
perform the valuation. Discounted cash flow method of the income
approach and residual method were used to determine the fair value
of the Data Centres and the Land Under Development, respectively.
Details of these valuation approaches are disclosed in the note 15(a) to
the consolidated financial statement. These methods involve the making
of assumptions, which involve significant judgements, and estimates
applied included estimated market rents, occupancy rates, estimate cost
to completion, capitalisation rates as well as discount rates.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

W (A

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Valuation of investment properties (continued)

our responses:

Our audit procedures in relation to assessing the appropriateness of
valuation of investment properties included:

- Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
Valuer;

- Assessing the appropriateness and consistency of the use of the
valuation methodology with relevant accounting requirements and
industry norms;

= Using auditor's expert to assist in assessing the valuation
methodology and key assumptions used by the Valuer,

- Evaluating the reasonableness of key assumptions adopted in the
valuation, in particular capitalisation rates, by comparing them
with historical rates and available market data;

- Performing analysis on the reasonableness of the prospective
cash flows input to evaluate the results on the valuation; and

- Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy and relevance of the
prospective cash flows input on existing leases by agreeing the
rental income and lease terms to the signed lease agreements.

Recognition of contract revenue

As disclosed in note 7 to the financial statements, revenue derived from
building construction for the year ended 31 March 2021 amounted to
HK$1,133,711,000, representing 76% of the Group’s revenue. Contract
revenue is recognised over time on the basis of direct measurements
of the value to the customers of the services relative to the remaining
services promised under the contract to the performance completed to
date. Details of the Group’s accounting policy is disclosed in note 4 to
the financial statements. This recognition method involves the making
of assumptions, which involve significant judgements, and estimates in
measuring percentage of work performed and the reasonableness.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

WG (A

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
Recognition of contract revenue (continued)

Our responses:

Our audit procedures in relation to assessing the appropriateness of
revenue recognition on building construction included:

- Examining the terms and conditions of all key contracts and
variation orders, such as contract sum, construction period,
performance obligations of the Group, payment schedule,
retention etc;

- Validating the stage of completion adopted by management to the
position set out in the certificate issued by independent surveyors,
including the certified contract work and variation orders;

- Evaluating the accuracy and reasonableness of total budgeted
costs, by benchmarking against the historical costs and profit
margins of completed projects, and interviewing the project
managers for assessing the reasonableness of the cost
estimations; compare and assess the reasonableness between
the ratio of actual costs incurred to budgeted costs and stage of
completion; and

- Assessing and testing of key controls of the Group over its
process to record contract revenue include review and approval
procedures on project certificates, progress reports and payments.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises information included in this annual report (but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon), which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s
report, and the Environmental, Social and Governance Report, which is
expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

W (A

OTHER INFORMATION (continued)

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information identified above
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other
information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

When we read the Environmental, Social and Governance Report, if we
conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required
to communicate the matter to those charged with governance, and take
appropriate action considering our legal rights and obligations.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial

reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

WG (A

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
Statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)
WL ()

AUDITOR’'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuead)

54

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

WG (A

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Wan Che Bun
Practising Certificate Number P05804

Hong Kong, 18 June 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AR AT R

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BE_Z_—HF=-A=1+—HLEFE UETIIT

2021 2020
= —F —ETEF
Notes $’000 $°000
=3 FiT FT
Revenue W= 7(8) 1,492,385 902,596
Direct costs BENA (1,161,276) (682,308)
Gross profit EF 331,109 220,288
Other income and gains, net HW A R 358 7(d) 23,437 9,290
Selling expenses HEMX (68,629) (69,179)
General and administrative expenses — R RITE RS (37,840) (39,455)
Changes in fair value of KEMEZ AT EEE)
investment properties 15 1,389 (10,344)
Profit from operations R 249,466 110,600
Finance costs R AR 8@) (61,562) (67,328)
Profit before taxation PRI ATEF 8 187,904 43,272
Income tax expenses FTi8MZH 9%a) (38,869) (9,443)
Profit for the year FRiER 149,035 33,829
HK cents HK cents
Al Bl
(Restated)
(&E7)
Earnings per share SRE
(reported earnings per share) (REFrmZERER)
- Basic and Diluted —BE R KRS 14(a) 10.5 2.4
Earnings per share SKREF
(underlying earnings per share) (EREREF)
- Basic and Diluted —BE RS 14(b) 10.4 3.1

Details of the dividends payable to owners of the Company attributable
to the profit for the year are disclosed in note 13(a) to the financial

Statements.

The notes on pages 63 to 155 form part of these financial statements.

BRERZINENTFTEARATDNEEANRSFE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
o 4E 2k B L Ath % i ik 3R

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HEZE - —F=-A=+—HIFE GV

2021 2020
—E—F ===
Notes $°000 $°000
KtaE == =
Profit for the year *mmy 149,035 33829
Other comprehensive income/(loss) FEREM2EKE  (§518)
for the year 10
ltems that will not be reclassified FEEM S EEEmVEE -
subsequently to profit or 10Ss:
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFAEMEERE
other comprehensive income TREE-ATERHE
- net movement in fair value reserve pE=Ey 1775 (2,596)
ltems that may be reclassified HE R GEE# 7 EE B m Y
subsequently to profit or 10ss: EH
Exchange differences on translation HMEBINETERE 7 E 4R
of foreign operations 2,262 (587)
Cash flow hedges - net movement REREEH P —HHEE
in hedging reserve By E) 4,280 (15,366)
,,,,,,, 6542 (15953
Other comprehensive income/(loss) FREMZEYKE (58 »
for the year, net of tax mgg= 8317 (18549
Total comprehensive income FAZEWELLEE
for the year 157,352 15,280
The notes on pages 63 to 155 form part of these financial statements. FOIE 5B FEMIEBIN A Rz —I e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

wR e WBsIR LR

As at 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

N_E_—F=A=+—H ETIT

2021 2020
- —F BT
Notes $°000 $°000
=3 Fiz FT
Non-current assets EREBEE
Fixed assets BE&EE
— Investment properties —RKEME 15 4,086,700 3,643,000
— Property, plant and equipment e EN ST 15 840,385 865,774
4,927,085 4,508,774
Deferred tax assets EIEIRIBE A o)) 38,985 27,876
Intangible assets EBREE 500 500
Financial assets at fair value through BAFESAEMEENRE
other comprehensive income ETHMEE 11,889 10,114
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFABECEHEE
profit or loss 8,339 7,766
4,986,798 4,555,030
Current assets MENEE
Inventories of properties MEFES 16 3,202,908 2,385,683
Contract assets HBHEE 17 309,536 228,303
Trade and other receivables FEE Wi AR 0 R ELth B LWt 7R IE 18 217,077 170,160
Tax recoverable A Y [EIFRIE Ac)i) 1,921 3,338
Derivative financial instruments TEEmTA 22 - 8
Restricted and pledged deposits SRR R EEFTER 79 752,409 2,127,031
Cash and bank balances & MIRTTAEER 179 369,610 80,059
4,853,461 4,994,582
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)
BR e MBS IR LR (A0

As at 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
N2 —F=A=1+—H CUBTAIT™

2021 2020
e —ETTF
Notes $°000 $°000
Jibgza FiT S
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables FE 1T BR R0 R ELth B {3 7R 1B 20 359,338 252,125
Contract liabilities BREE 17 2,878,029 2,159,022
Dividend payables FE(TRZ B - 354,885
Bank loans RITER 21 2,512,262 664,496
Derivative financial instruments TEEmTA 22 17,512 =
Tax payable (I TE oc)i) 34,568 23,727
5801709 - 3,454,255
Net current (liabilities)/assets e (BR) BERE ~ (948,248) 1,540,327
Total assets less current liabilities HEERTHERE ~ 4,038550 6,095,357
Non-current liabilities ERHER
Bank loans IRITER 21 1,492,639 3,603,271
Deferred tax liabilities EIERIBE(E Qc)ii) 53,122 48,831
Derivative financial instruments TESmTA 22 15,251 37,896
~ 1561012 ¢ 3,689,998
NET ASSETS BEEE 2,477,538 2,405,359
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BR AR (it
Share capital [REN 24 14,196 7,098
Reserves (=46 2,463,342 2,398,261
TOTAL EQUITY MR 2,477,538 2,405,359
On behalf of the Board REREET
Chan Hung Ming Lau Chi Wah
FRFLEA FEE
Director Director
EZE BE

The notes on pages 63 to 155 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Bk oy Rl 2 Bl R

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BETZET—F=-A=1+—HIFE GBI

Fair
Share Share value Hedging  Exchange Retained Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve profits equity
s BRipEE ATERE gl SNEREE REER LY 3
Note $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $o00
i3 775 T 775 FIT F7 775 FIT
At 1 April 2019 RZE-h&EMA—H o 777,0287 —— 7987,6§97 o 7(8%0)7 . (71672Z1)7 777777 - %77257,8§67 - %87147,5227
Profit for the year FREF - - - - - 33,829 33,829
Other comprehensive income Hitz2ENE 100) - - (2,596) (15,366) (587) - (18,549)
Total comprenensive income for the year  FRZEM@SE 00 - - 28 (536 (8 338 15280
Dividends approved in respect BEEZLFERE
of the previous year - - - - - #1167 #1,167)
Dividends approved EREZAEERE
in respect of the current year - - - - - (383,276) (383,276)
At 31 March 2020 and RZIZZZE=A=+-Ak
1 April 2020 —ZZZEMA-A 7,098 98,639 (3,426) (31,637) (587) 2,335,272 2,405,359
Profit for the year FREF - - - - - 149,035 149,035
Other comprehensive income Hit2EE 100) - - 1,775 4,280 2,262 - 8,317
Total comprehensive income for the year  £RZEM@SE 00 = = 1775 4280 2262 149,035 157,352
Bonus issue of shares ARET 7,098 (7,098) - - - - -
Dividends approved in respect EiEZ LEERE
of the previous year - - - - - (28,391) (28,391)
Dividends approved in respect BHEZAFERE
of the current year - - - - - (56,782) (56,782)
At 31 March 2021 R-ZE-_-F=A=+-H 14,196 91,541 (1,651)  (27,357) 1675 2,399,134 2,477,538
The notes on pages 63 to 155 form part of these financial statements. F63E1S5EFRH M s BRI KR —Fp o ©
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

A BlEiimR

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
HEZE - —F=-A=+—HIFE GV

2021 2020
et = Sme ds
Notes $’000 $°000
Jiog=3 S e
Operating activities EEES
Profit before taxation FRIE AT T 187,904 43,272
Adjustments for: U T RIEEHAE .
- Interest income —FIEUWA 7(d) (4,275) (2,720)
— Dividend income from unlisted —JELTHREESHREWA
fund investments 7(a) (817) (848)
- Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss —SNERIE Ww) 518 7(a) (2,265) 632
- Changes in fair value of financial assets —BAFEFABGRZ
at fair value through profit or 10ss SRMEEZ AT EEE 7(d) (385) (354)
— Loss on disposal of property, —HEYE - BEKRKE
plant and equipment Z 518 7(d) 119 =
— Finance costs — R AR 8() 61,562 67,328
- Depreciation —iTE 8(c) 27,922 22,746
— Impairment loss/(reversal of —ERERR RGN EENRE
impairment loss) on trade receivables 518 (B EIEE)
and contract assets 8(c) 93 (272)
— Changes in fair value —KREYELTFEED
of investment properties (1,389) 10,344
Changes in working capital: EEBEE 8
- Increase in inventories of properties —EBINMEEES (731,856) (193,502)
- Increase in contract assets —BINENEE (71,455) (21,623)
- Increase in trade and —IB NN FE U AR R R
other receivables HahpE g (46,814) (58,589)
- Decrease/(increase) in restricted deposits  —igi/b (1&1N) ZRFIFER 1,093,327 (1,994,447)
- Increase in trade —IE N FE R
and other payables HMEMRIE 107,188 94,159
— Increase in contract liabilities —EBnehas 719,007 2,133,467
cash generated from operations EEELNRE 1,337,866 99,599
Tax paid B1RIE (34,273) (13,072)
Net cash generated from operating EERHELENREFEE
activities 1,303,593 86,527

ENRERRARAR 2020215 E8s O]



CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (Continued)
HRABlERER @)

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
BETET—F=-RA=1+—HIFE Q&I

2021 2020
- —F “ETEHF
Notes $’000 $°000
=3 Fiz FT
Investing activities KEEH
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB ME &R H (2,664) (16,762)
Proceeds from disposal of HEMXE BERKREERIE
property, plant and equipment 12 -
Expenditure on investment properties NEMERST (442,311) (58,344)
Interest received BUFHE 4,275 2,720
Dividends received from BWIELETREETHRE
unlisted fund investments 817 848
Acquisition of subsidiaries, WHEMT B AT IR AIRE
net of cash acquired 23 - (13,153)
Net cash used in investing activities KREREFTAZIRE R - (439.871)  (84,691)
Financing activities LB EE
Proceeds from bank loans IRITTEMRPAIEIE 2,571,928 1,485,975
Repayment of bank loans BERITEM (2,834,794) (1,231,252)
(Increase)/decrease in pledged deposits (2hm R BIRIRER (392,218) 14,684
Decrease in restricted deposits B = RS TERR 675,221 6,064
Interest and other borrowing costs paid BEAHE REMERE LR (156,418) (185,959)
Dividends paid BENKRE (440,058) (69,558)
Net cash (used in)/generated from REEE FrA) Bz
financing activities &8 - (576,339 19,954
Net increase in cash and RERINEEEWIEMBEE
cash equivalents 287,383 21,790
Effect of foreign exchange SpESPERE B E
rate changes 2,168 -
Cash and cash equivalents at FUNRERREEEY
the beginning of the year 80,059 58,269
cash and cash equivalents at FRNRERREEEY
the end of the year 79 369,610 80,059
The notes on pages 63 to 155 form part of these financial statements. FO3E 5B FNH MBI A FRF—Z D o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
WA 55 ¥R A Bl ik

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(FRAFRISERASN ) LUBTTHIT)

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Grand Ming Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the business of building construction, property leasing
and property development. The Company was incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands as an exempted company with limited liability
on 14 August 2012 under the Companies Law, Cap.22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman lIslands. The
Company's shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 9
August 2013.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information to the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 27.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(@) Adoption of new or amended HKFRSs - effective
on 1 April 2020

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA which are
relevant to and effective for the Group's consolidated
financial statements for annual period beginning on or after
1 April 2020:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7and HKFRS 9

Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform

None of these new or amended HKFRSs has a material
impact on the Group's results and financial position for the
current or prior period. The Group has not early applied any
new or amended HKFRSs that is not yet effective for the
current accounting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5kt ok (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFERIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)
New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but

(b)

64

are not yet effective

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant to
the Group’s consolidated financial statements, have been
issued, but are not yet effective and have not been early

adopted by the Group.
Amendments to HKFRS 16
Amendments to HKAS 39,

HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020 cycle

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37
Amendments to HKFRS 3
HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HK-INT5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21

COVID-19 Related
Rent Concessions’
Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 22

COVID-19 Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021°

Amendment to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 16
and HKAS 414

Property, Plant and
Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use’

Onerous Contracts —

Cost of Fulfilling a Contract?

Reference to the
Conceptual Framework®

Insurance Contracts?

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-Current
and Presentation of
Financial Statements
— Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan
that contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause’
Disclosure of
Accounting Policies?
Definition of
Accounting Estimates?
Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture”
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

A5 H R b ok (A)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

CRFFRIEERRSN > LIBTTHIT)

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but

are not yet effective (continuead)

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020
with early application permitted

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2021

S Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021
with early application permitted

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022

€ Effective for business combinations for which the date of
acquisition is on or after the beginning of the first annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2022

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023

v The amendments shall be applied prospectively to the sale or
contribution of assets occurring in annual periods beginning
on or after a date to be determined

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments is expected to be in
the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that
the adoption of them is unlikely to have significant impact on
the Group's result of operations and financial positions.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “HKFRSs”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5kt ok (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFERIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

3.

66

(b)

Basis of measurement and going concern
assumption

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis except for certain properties
and financial instruments, which are measured at fair values
as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

At the end of reporting period, the Group's current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by $948,248,000. This condition
indicates the existence of a material uncertainty that may
cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern and therefore, the Group may not be able
to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal
course of business.

Nevertheless, the consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on the going concern basis because the
Directors are of the view that the Group will have sufficient
working capital to finance its operations and to meet
its financial obligations as and when they fall due in the
foreseeable future, based on the cash flow projection of
the Group covering a period up to 30 September 2022 after
taking into consideration the following action or event:

()  The Group has signed a conditional mandate with
a principal banker of the Group as a coordinating
arranger and facility agent to renew its borrowings
with a loan and grant a new loan facility for a term
of five years (with an option to extend the loans for a
further three years) amounting to $2,800,000,000 on 31
May 2021. The Directors expects the Group will be able
to obtain this loan to meet the Group’s working capital
requirements; and

(i) The estimated proceeds receivable from the pre-
sale of properties under development for the sale of
residential project, The Grand Marine.

3.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5 e bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN ) B TTEIT)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(b)

Basis of measurement and going concern
assumption (continued)

Should the Group be unable to continue in business as a
going concern, adjustments would have to be made in the
financial statements to write down carrying amounts of
the assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any
further liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-
current assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities,
respectively. The effect of these adjustments have not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@)

Business combination and basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Inter-company transactions and balances between group
companies together with unrealised profits are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of impairment on the asset transferred, in
which case the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the dates of acquisition or up
to the dates of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with
those used by other members of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5kt ok (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFERIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.

68

(@)

Business combination and basis of consolidation

(continued)

The Group accounts for business combinations using the
acquisition method when the acquired set of activities and
assets meets the definition of a business and control is
transferred to the Group. In determining whether a particular
set of activities and assets is a business, the Group assesses
whether the set of assets and activities acquired includes,
at a minimum, an input and substantive processes and
whether the acquired set has the ability to produce outputs.

The cost of an acquisition is measured at the aggregate of
the acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred, liabilities
incurred and equity interests issued by the Group, as the
acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed are principally measured at acquisition-date fair
value. The Group's previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is re-measured at acquisition-date fair value and
the resulting gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss.
The Group may elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis,
to measure the non-controlling interests that represent
present ownership interests in the subsidiary either at
fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value unless another measurement basis
is required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs incurred
are expensed unless they are incurred in issuing equity
instruments in which case the costs are deducted from
equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair value.
Subsequent adjustments to consideration are recognised
against goodwill only to the extent that they arise from new
information obtained within the measurement period (a
maximum of 12 months from the acquisition date) about
the fair value at the acquisition date. All other subsequent
adjustments to contingent consideration classified as an
asset or a liability are recognised in profit or loss.

4.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5 e bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN ) B TTEIT)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuea)

@)

Business combination and basis of consolidation
(continued)

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-
controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those interests at
initial recognition plus such non-controlling interest’s share
of subsequent changes in equity. Non-controlling interests
are presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position within equity, separately from equity attributable to
owners of the Company. Profit or loss and each component
of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income is attributed to such non-controlling
interests even if this results in those non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that do not
result in a loss of control of the subsidiary are accounted for
as equity transactions. The carrying amount of the Group’s
interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value
of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the gain or loss
on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous
carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests.
Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for on
the same basis as would be required if the relevant assets or
liabilities were disposed of.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5kt ok (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFERIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.

70

(b)

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able
to exercise control. The Company controls an investee if all
three of the following elements are present: (i) power over
the investee; (i) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
the investee, and (i) the ability to use its power to affect
those variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts
and circumstances indicate that there may be a change in
any of these elements of control.

De-facto control exists in situations where the Company has
the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee without holding the majority of the voting rights. In
determining whether de-facto control exists the Company
considers all relevant facts and circumstances, including:

o The size of the Company's voting rights relative to
both the size and dispersion of other parties who hold
voting rights,

o Substantive potential voting rights held by the
Company and other parties who hold voting rights;

o Other contractual arrangements; and
o Historic patterns in voting attendance.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 4(h)), unless the investment is
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group
that is classified as held for sale). The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

4.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5 e bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN ) B TTEIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.

(€)

(d)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

() Intangible assets acquired separately with indefinite
useful lives are initially recognised at cost. The cost of
intangible assets acquired in a business combination is
fair value at the date of acquisition. Subsequently, they
are carried at cost less any accumulated impairment
losses.

Money lender license Indefinite
(i) Impairment

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and
intangible assets not yet available for use are tested
for impairment annually, irrespective of whether there
is any indication that they may be impaired. If the
recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount (see note
4(h)).

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at
fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value.
Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is
positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit or
loss, except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges,
which is recognised in other comprehensive income and
later reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged item
affects profit or l0ss (see note 4(e)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5kt ok (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFERIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.

12

(€)

Hedging

Ccash flow hedges

Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a
hedge of the variability in cash flows of a recognised asset
or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction or the
foreign currency risk of a committed future transaction,
the effective portion of any gains or losses on re-
measurement of the derivative financial instrument to fair
value are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the hedging reserve.
The ineffective portion of any gain or loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results
in the recognition of a non-financial asset or non-financial
liability, the associated gain or loss is reclassified from equity
to be included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of
the non-financial asset or liability.

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subseguently results in
the recognition of a financial asset or a financial liability, the
associated gain or loss is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss in the same period or periods during which the asset
acquired or liability assumed affects profit or loss (such as
when interest income or expense is recognised).

When a hedging instrument expires, or is sold or terminated,
or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge
accounting, hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively,
any cumulative gain or loss remains in equity at that time
is accounted for according to the nature of the underlying
transactions (as discussed above) once the hedged cash
flow occurs. When a forecast transaction is no longer
expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that has been
reported in equity is reclassified to profit or loss immediately.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5 e bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN ) B TTEIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Fixed assets

4.

(f)

(i)

Investment properties and investment
properties under development

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which
are owned or held under a leasehold interest (see
note 4(g)) to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation. These include land held for a currently
undetermined future use and property that is being
constructed or developed for future use as investment

property.

Investment properties and investment properties
under development are stated at fair value, unless they
are still in the course of construction or development
at the end of the reporting period and their fair value
cannot be reliably measured at that time. Any gain
or loss arising from a change in fair value or from
the retirement or disposal of an investment property
is recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from
investment properties is accounted for as described in
note 4(o)(iii).

When the Group holds a property interest under an
operating lease to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, the interest is classified and accounted
for as an investment property on a property-by-
property basis. Any such property interest which has
been classified as an investment property is accounted
for as if it were held under a finance lease (see note
4(g)), and the same accounting policies are applied
to that interest as are applied to other investment
properties leased under finance leases. Lease
payments are accounted for as described in note 4(g).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5kt ok (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFERIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.

74

(f)

Fixed assets (continued)
(i)  Other property, plant and equipment

Other property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
(see note 4(h)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal
of an item of property, plant and equipment are
determined as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as
to write off their cost or valuation net of expected
residual value, if any, over their estimated useful lives
on a straight-line basis. The useful lives, residual value
and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at each end of the reporting period. The
useful lives are as follows:

Buildings 50 years
Plant and machinery 3-5 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3-5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

Assets under construction are stated at cost less
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. They are
transferred to the appropriate class of property, plant
and equipment when the construction works complete
and are ready for use.

Where parts of an item of furniture, fixtures and other
fixed assets have different useful lives, the cost of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both the
useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are
reviewed annually.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5 e bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN ) B TTEIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.

@)

Leased assets

All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases or
finance leases) are required to be capitalised in the
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices exist for an
entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases which are short-
term leases and/or (i) leases for which the underlying asset
is of low-value. All the leases entered by the Group are short-
term and has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities for leases which at the commencement
date have a lease term less than 12 months. The lease
payments associated with those leases have been expensed
on straight-line basis over the lease term. The Group
accounts for leasehold land and buildings that are held for
rental or capital appreciation purpose under HKAS 40 and
are carried at fair value.

Accounting as a lessor

The Group has leased out its investment properties to a
number of tenants. Rental income from operating leases
is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as
an expense on the straight-line basis over the lease term
(see note 4(0)(iii)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5kt ok (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFERIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.

76

(h)

Impairment of assets (other than financial assets)
Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired:

- fixed assets (other than properties carried at fair
value); and

- investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

- Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised
in respect of cash-generating units, are allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of the assets in the unit
(or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that
the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable) or value in use (if determinable).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5 e bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN ) B TTEIT)

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(h) Impairment of assets (other than financial assets)
(continued)

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the
asset’s carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to profit or loss in the year in which the
reversals are recognised.

() Financial instruments

(M)

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without
a significant financing component) is initially measured
at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL"), transaction costs that are
directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade
receivable without a significant financing component is
initially measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the market place.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

WA 5 #h ke N

(#)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFERIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

4.

718

(i)

(i)

Financial assets (continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model for managing
the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the
asset. There are three measurement categories into
which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets at
amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest rate method. Interest income,
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Any gain on derecognition
is recognised in profit or l0ss.

Fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI"): Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Debt investments at FVOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value. Interest income calculated
using the effective interest rate method, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairment are
recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses
are recognised in other comprehensive income. On
derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5 e bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN ) B TTEIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

4.

(i)

(i)

Financial assets (continued)

Debt instruments (continuea)

FVTPL: Financial assets at FVTPL include financial
assets held for trading, financial assets designated
upon initial recognition at FVTPL, or financial assets
mandatorily required to be measured at fair value.
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing
in the near term. Derivatives, including separated
embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not solely payments of principal and interest are
classified and measured at FVTPL, irrespective of the
business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt
instruments to be classified at amortised cost or at
FVTOCI, as described above, debt instruments may
be designated at FVTPL on initial recognition if doing
so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an accounting
mismatch.

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is
not held for trading, the Group could irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair
value in other comprehensive income. This election is
made on an investment-by-investment basis. Equity
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income are measured at fair value. Dividend income
are recognised in profit or loss unless the dividend
income clearly represents a recovery of part of the
cost of the investments. Other net gains and losses
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
are not reclassified to profit or loss. All other equity
instruments are classified as FVTPL, whereby changes
in fair value, dividends and interest income are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5kt ok (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFERIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

4.

80

(i)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit loss (“ECL") on trade receivables, contract
assets, financial assets measured at amortised cost
and debt investments measured at FVOCI. ECLS
are measured on either of the following bases: (1)
12-months ECLS: these are ECLs that result from
possible default events within the 12 months after the
reporting date: and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLS
that result from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument. The maximum
period considered when estimating ECLS is the
maximum contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall
is then discounted at an approximation to the assets’
original effective interest rate.

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for
trade receivables and contract assets using HKFRS 9
simplified approach and has calculated ECLs based on
lifetime ECLs. The Group has established a provision
matrix that is based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, ECLs are based on
the 12-month ECLs. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLS.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5 e bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN ) B TTEIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

4.

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Impairment loss on financial assets

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECL, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or
effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information analysis, based on the Group's historical
experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30
days past due.

The Group considers that a default event occurs when:
(1) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to
actions such as realising security (if any is held); or (2)
the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset. For non credit-impaired financial assets interest
income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount.

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending
on the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred.
Financial liabilities at amortised costs are initially
measured at fair value, net of directly attributable costs
incurred.

These liabilities including trade and other payables and
bank loans, are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using effective interest method. The related
interest expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5kt ok (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFERIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

4.

82

(i)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

Effective interest method

Effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income or interest
expense over the relevant period. Effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts or payments through the expected life of
the financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a
shorter period.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
Costs.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation
to the financial asset expire or when the financial
asset has been transferred and the transfer meets the
criteria for derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments
to a creditor to settle a financial liability in whole
or in part as a result of renegotiating the terms
of that liability, the equity instruments issued are
the consideration paid and are recognised initially
and measured at their fair value on the date the
financial liability or part thereof is extinguished. If the
fair value of the equity instruments issued cannot
be reliably measured, the equity instruments are
measured to reflect the fair value of the financial
liability extinguished. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability or part thereof
extinguished and the consideration paid is recognised
in profit or loss for the year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5 e bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN ) B TTEIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.

()

(k)

Inventories of properties

(i)  Properties under development for sales
The cost of properties under development for
sales comprises specifically identified cost,
including acquisition cost of land, aggregate cost
of development, materials and supplies, wages and
other direct expenses, an appropriate proportion
of overheads and borrowing costs capitalised. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price
less estimated costs of completion and costs to make
be incurred in selling the properties.

(i) Properties held for sales

The cost of completed properties for sale comprises
the total land and development costs for that project,
being all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to
their present location and condition. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price, based on
prevailing market conditions, less estimated costs to
be incurred in selling the property.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
in hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value,
having been within three months of maturity at acquisition.

Employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which
the associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5kt ok (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFERIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

4.

84

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts
of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities and all deferred tax assets, to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a period,
or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5 e bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN ) B TTEIT)

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Income tax (continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of
a business combination), and temporary differences relating
to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case
of taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of
the reversal and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the
future.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value
in accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 4(f)
(i), the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using
the tax rates that would apply on sale of those assets at
their carrying value at the end of the reporting period unless
the property is depreciable and is held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the property over time,
rather than through sale. In all other cases, the amount of
deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount
of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to be
utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that
it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5kt ok (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFERIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Income tax (continued)

4.

86

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against
deferred tax liabilities, if the Group or the Company has the
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the following additional conditions
are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Group or the Company intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled
or recovered, intend to realise the current tax
assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a
net basis or realise and settle simultaneously.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group or the Company has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5 e bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN ) B TTEIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.

(n)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)
Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services, excluding those amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that
apply to the contract, control of the goods or service may
be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of
the goods or service is transferred over time if the Group's
performance:

- provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

- creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

- does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the goods or service.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

WA 5 #h ke N

(#)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFERIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.

88

(0)

Revenue recognition (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than
one year, revenue is measured at the present value of the
amounts receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the Group, revenue
recognised under that contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For contracts where the period between the
payment and the transfer of the promised goods or services
is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for
the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(i)  Revenue from building construction

Where the outcome of a construction contract can be
estimated reliably, revenue and costs are recognised
by reference to the stage of completion method,
measured based on the construction works performed,
which are certified by an independent professional
architect, relative to the estimated total contract sum.
Invoices are issued according to contractual terms
and are usually payable within 30 days. Uninvoiced
amounts are presented as contract assets.

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot
be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to
the extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable
will be recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as
expenses in the period in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will
exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is
recognised as an expense immediately.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5 e bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN ) B TTEIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)

4.

(0)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

Revenue from sales of properties

Revenue arising from the sale of properties held
for sale is recognised in the Group’s consolidated
statement of profit or loss on the basis that control
over the ownership of the property has been passed
to the customer during the current accounting period,
which is the point in time when the customer has the
ability to direct the use of the property and obtain
substantially all the benefits of the property. Deposits
and instalments received on properties sold prior to
the date of revenue recognition are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position under
contract liabilities.

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases
is recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments
over the periods covered by the lease term. Lease
incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss as
an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised as
income in the accounting period in which they are
earned.

Rental related income
Rental related income is recognhised on an accrual
basis.

Dividend income

Dividend income from unlisted investments is
recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment
is established.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
effective interest method.

Contract assets and liabilities

Contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for services that the
Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5kt ok (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFERIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.

90

(0)

Revenue recognition (continued)
(vii) Contract assets and liabilities (continued)

Contract liability represents the Group's obligation
to transfer services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

Contract asset is recognised when (i) the Group
completes the construction works under such services
contracts certified by architects, surveyors or other
representatives appointed by customers, or (i) the
customers retain retention money to secure the due
performance of the contracts. Any amount previously
recognised as a contract asset is reclassified to trade
receivables at the point at which it is invoiced to the
customer. If the considerations (including advances
received from customers) exceeds the revenue
recognised to date under the output method then the
Group recognises a contract liability for the difference.

(viii) Contract costs

The Group recognises an asset from the costs incurred
to fulfil a contract when those costs meet all of the
following criteria:

- the costs relate directly to a contract or to
an anticipated contract that the entity can
specifically identify;

- the costs generate or enhance resources of
the entity that will be used in satisfying (or in
continuing to satisfy) performance obligations in
the future; and

- the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset recognised is subsequently amortised to
profit or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent
with the transfer to the customer of the goods or
services to which the cost relate. The asset is subject
to impairment review.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5 e bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN ) B TTEIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.

(P)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the average
exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the rates
approximating to those ruling when the transactions took
place are used. All assets and liabilities of foreign operations
are translated at the rate ruling at the end of reporting
period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
as exchange reserve. Exchange differences recognised in
profit or loss of group entities’ separate financial statements
on the translation of long-term monetary items forming
part of the Group's net investment in the foreign operation
concerned are reclassified to other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity as exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative exchange
differences recognised in the exchange reserve relating to
that operation up to the date of disposal are reclassified to
profit or loss as part of the profit or loss on disposal.

Fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired arising
on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1 January
2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign
operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at
the end of reporting period. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in the exchange reserve.

4.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.

92

@

Capitalisation of borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for
its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of
that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred.

Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or
completed.

Related parties

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or the Group's parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

()  The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

4.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5 e bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN ) B TTEIT)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (continued)

4.

(r)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity and include:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

dependents of that person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFERIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

4.

94

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s) Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group'’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments
have similar economic characteristics and are similar in
respect of the nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of customers,
the methods used to distribute the products or provide
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors
are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

(@) Valuation of investment properties
As described in note 15, investment properties are stated at
fair value based on valuation performed by an independent
firm of professional valuer.

In determining the fair value of investment properties, the
valuer has used a method of valuation which involves, inter-
alia, certain estimates including appropriate discount rates,
capitalisation rates and expected future market rents. In
relying on the valuation reports, management has exercised
its judgement and is satisfied that the method of valuation is
reflective of the current market conditions.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5 e bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN ) B TTEIT)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

5.

(b)

Construction contracts

The management reviews and revises the estimates of
contract revenue, contract costs, variation orders and
contract claims prepared for each construction contract as
the contract progresses. Budgeted construction costs are
prepared by the management on the basis of quotations
from time to time provided by the major contractors,
suppliers or vendors involved and the experience of the
management. In order to keep the budget accurate and
up-to-date, management conducts periodic reviews of the
budgets of contracts by comparing the budgeted amounts to
the actual amounts incurred. Such significant estimate may
have impact on the profit recognised in each period.

As explained in policy note 4(0)(i), revenue from construction
contracts is recognised over time on the basis of direct
measurements of the estimated value to the customers of
the services relative to the remaining services promised
under the contract to the performance completed to
date. Due to the nature of the activity undertaken in these
contracts, actual outcomes in terms of total costs or revenue
may be higher or lower than estimated at the end of the
reporting period, which would affect the revenue and profit
recognised in future years as an adjustment to the amounts
recorded to date.

5.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFERIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

5.

96

(€)

Impairment of trade receivables and contract
assets

Trade receivables and contract assets are reviewed by
management at the end of each reporting period to
determine the expected credit losses. The management
bases the estimates on the historical credit 10ss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors
and assessments of both current and forecast general
economic conditions. Credit risk assessments focus on
the customers’ past history of making payments when
due and current ability and willingness to pay, taking into
account the financial position of the customers and the
macroeconomic environment in which the customers
operate. The credit assessments also consider the status
of the construction project, i.e. whether there is any delay,
any unresolved lawsuits or contentious matters with
customers. If the financial conditions of the customers and/
or the macroeconomic environment of the Group were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to
repay, additional impairment provision may be reputed.

Going concern

The assessment of the going concern assumption involves
making a judgement by the Board of the Company, at the
end of the reporting period, about the future outcome of
events or conditions, which are inherently uncertain. The
Board of the Company considers that the Group have the
capabilities to continue as going concerns and the major
events and conditions, which may give rise to business risks,
that individually or collectively may cast doubt upon the
going concern assumption and related mitigating measures
taken by management are set out in note 3(b).

9.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5 e bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN ) B TTEIT)

6.

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker that are
used to make strategic decisions.

The Group has three reportable segments. The segments are
managed separately as each business offers different products
and services and requires different business strategies. The
following summary describes the operations in each of the
Group's reportable segments:

—  Construction: contracting of construction of residential
buildings, commercial buildings and data centres for external
customers and group companies

—  Property leasing: leasing of data centres
—  Property development: develop and sale of properties

Inter-segment transactions are priced with reference to prices
charged to external parties for similar order. Central revenue and
expenses are not allocated to the operating segments as they are
not included in the measure of the segment’s profit that is used
by the chief operating decision-makers for assessment of segment
performance. Certain comparative figures on the measurement
of the segment results have been represented to conform the
current year’s presentation.

For the purposes of assessing segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s most senior
executive management monitors the results, assets and liabilities
attributable to each reportable segment on the following bases:

- Segment assets include all tangible, non-current and current
assets with the exception of investments in financial assets,
deferred tax assets and other corporate assets. Segment
liabilities include trade payables, accruals and other current
and non-current liabilities attributable to the business
activities of the individual segments and bank borrowings
managed directly by the segments.

- Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to income generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or
which otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation
of assets attributable to those segments.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

p7 e I ENE )

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

CRFFRIEERRSN > LUBTTHIT)

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)
(@) Segment revenue and results

SRS (B
() DEPURE R

Year ended 31 March 2021

HE_E-—-F-HA=+—HILEE
Inter-
Property Property segment
Construction leasing development  elimination Total
B MEHRE MERR  DEREIEH @
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
F F F F F
Revenue from external customers  REMNFE P 1,133,711 164,674 194,000 - 1,492,385
Inter-segment revenue Db 1,141,964 64,437 - (1,206,401) -
Segment revenue AR 2,275,675 229,111 194,000  (1,206,401) 1,492,385
Segment results DEEE 224,049 155,950 3,805 (124,102) 259,702
Unallocated net income KRR ZE 7,445
Unallocated expenses RAEEEH (19,455)
Changes in fair value of financial ~ EZAFEHABRZEHEEZ
assets at fair value through NFEEE
profit or 10ss 385
Changes in fair value of investment BB % 2 AT EEH)
properties 1,389
Finance costs B I (61,562)
Profit before taxation Gy gl 187,904
Year ended 31 March 2020
BEZZTF-A-+-HIEFE
Inter-
Property Property segment
Construction leasing  development elimination Total
BE MERE MEER  HUBIEH iast
$000 Sooo Sooo Sooo $ooo
Fr F F F F
Revenue from external customers — RENPREUE 497,147 139,835 265,614 - 902,59
Inter-segment revenue DEE W 537,203 30,282 = (567,485) =
Segment revenue e 1,034,350 170,117 265,614 (567,485) 902,59
Segment results NEER 89,501 101,726 (15,091) (41,026) 135,110
Unallocated net income ROEWAZE 3,606
Unallocated expenses ROETH (18,126)
Changes in fair value of financial ~ ZAFEFABRZ EHEEZ
assets at fair value through NFEEE
profit or 10ss 354
Changes in fair value of investment & B4 %2 AT EEE)
properties (10,344)
Finance costs BIRRA (67,328)
Profit before taxation BriRET R 43272
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

A5 H R b ok (A)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN ) B TTEIT)

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 6.
(b) Segment assets and liabilities

DEWE (&

(b)) DHEERER

2021 2020
$°000 $ 000
ST =TT
Segment assets DNEEE

Construction =3 615,652 392,597
Property leasing MEMRE 4,180,220 3,682,201
Property development YR 4,484,197 4,936,562
Total segment assets MOHEE 9,280,069 9,011,360
Other financial assets Hith&pEE 20,228 17,880
Deferred tax assets IRIEFTEE 38,985 27,876
Tax recoverable AU eI 1,921 3,338
Unallocated office premises KOEMAEYE 391,548 400,053

Unallocated head office and ROMBAT R EEEE
corporate assets 93,051 79,954
Unallocated cash and bank balances k2B IRE & IB1TLER 14,457 9,151
Consolidated total assets EEmREE 9,840,259 9,549,612

Segment liabilities bk B=RE

Construction FH 497,953 559,251
Property leasing MERE 1,001,137 924,767
Property development MEER 3,851,008 3,825,471
Total segment liabilities woHas 5,350,098 5,309,489
Tax payable FETIRIE 34,568 23,727
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIBE (R 53,122 48,831

Unallocated head office and IR AR REEER
corporate liabilities 135,022 537,076
Unallocated bank loans KDBCIRITTER 1,789,911 1,225,130
Consolidated total liabilities ReRas 7,362,721 7,144,253

EMHSE PR A TR A F] 2020721 E#HRES
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

p7 e I ENE )

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFERIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 6. DEES (&
(c) Other segment information () HfthpEER
Property Property
Construction leasing development Unallocated Total
ok ES i EL T AR CH
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

—§--% C-Z-EF CZEC-F CB2%E
$000 $000 $o00 $000 $00
7z i r A 7z

“®--F CECEZF C¥C-F ECEF OCEI-F CBIEE

S0 $000 St $000 St
z 7 Tz i 77

Additions to non-current - REFRHHPEE
segment assets - 78 503,016 63039 8

19,09 1,550 4,602 504,574 86,348

(d) Geographic information (d)
No geographic information has been presented as all of the
Group's operating activities are carried out in Hong Kong.

(e) Information about major customers (e
Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the total
turnover of the Group is as follows:

& &
ARAEEREDEEEBITERE
ET R ESTMEER

BRETERTFHNEHN
ERMAEBEARZI0NUA LNERZ
Wemdn®

2021 2020

—EZ—F TETEE

$’000 $000

FiT Fr

Customer A EEA 1,123,816 464,486

Customer B2 =ZEB? N/A RER 95,603

Customer C? BRC? N/A RER 91,242
1 The revenue was derived from building construction. t WmRBEIEFRIES

2 The revenue was derived from sales of properties. Customer 2
B did not contribute over 10% of the total turnover of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2021.

g The revenue was derived from sales of properties. Customer g

C did not contribute over 10% of the total turnover of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2021.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5 e bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTHIT)

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (continuea) 6. DEIHE &
(f)  Timing of revenue recognition (f) Uz W S0 BRF
Construction Property leasing Property development Total
B MERE ES it
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Z®C-f ZB-®f SPS-F —2-%f T@C-F |IS=Bf| ZRS-f Z2°%F
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
F7 7T F7 7T F7 F7T F7 FT
Ata point in time RE—BBY - - - - 194,000 265614 194,000 265,614
Transferred over time RERRIEH 1,133,711 497,147 22,637 20,024 - - 1,156,348 517,171
Revenue from other sources RE ARG - = 142,037 119,811 - = 142,037 119,811

1,133,711 497,147 164,674 139,835 194,000 205614 1,492,385 902,596

7. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 7. WEUREMKARKEFEE

Revenue which is derived from the Group's principal activities and REAEEFEEFHIW R U REMUA
other income and gains, net during the year is analysed as follows: R FEASTWT -
(@) Disaggregation of revenue (@) W
2021 2020
—E-—%F —ETFg
$°000 $°000
FiT FT
Revenue from contract with customer HHEIFHREEDF155%
within the scope of HKFRSs 15 HERNNEREHOWE
Revenue from building construction EFREWE 1,133,711 497,147
Rental related income FHE AW A 22,637 20,024
Sales of properties YIEHE 194,000 265,614
Revenue from other sources Hfth s RRI Uk &5
Rental income B WA 142,037 119,811

1,492,385 902,596
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET
(continued)

7.

] 02 GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21

(b)

Unsatisfied performance obligations

As at 31 March 2021, the aggregate amount of the
transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations under the Group’s existing contracts is
approximately $5,240.4 million (2020: $5,586.3 million). This
amount represents revenue expected to recognise in the
future from construction contracts and sales and purchase
agreements from sales of properties entered into with
customers. The Group will recognise the expected revenue in
the future when or as the work is completed, or control over
the ownership of property has been passed to customer.
These are expected to occur over the next 12 months.

Details of contract liabilities
The Group has recognised the following revenue-related

7.

Wzt AR E U A B W w73 80 (480

(b)

AEITERAOEE
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BHNERFHE
FEEERIUTRHEBEMZANE

contract liabilities: & :
2021 2020
—E-—F TETEE
$000 $000
FiT FiT
Contract liabilities BHEE 2,878,029 2,159,022
Significant changes in contract liabilities SHEEBEAXEE)

Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arise from deposits
from sale of properties made by the customers while the
underlying control over the ownership of properties are
yet to be passed. Such liabilities increase as a result of
further entered contracts with customers under the pre-
sales arrangement before the completion of the underlying
properties.

AEENANEREBREHENE
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B TAIRBEE RS RE S E— S5
STARTEN



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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7. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 7. WEUAKREMKARKDZFEE &)

(continued)
(d) Other income and gains, net d) EHMWARKz=FEE
2021 2020
T = e 2 o
$°000 $000
ST ST
Bank interest income RITH B WA 4,275 2,720
Dividend income from unlisted JFLEPREESHREWA
fund investments 817 848
Net foreign exchange gain/(0ss), net  SMNER#FEEE (B518) 2,265 (632)
Changes in fair value of financial BATEFAER EMEEL
assets at FVTPL N EE 385 354
Government subsidy (note) B, (52) 7,482 -
Loss on disposal of property, HEVE -BEK
plant and equipment K2 518 (119) -
Others Hih 8,332 6,000
23,437 9,290
Note: it
The amount represents the government grants obtained from It ZEHE S AR 1T & BT S5 eI B &
Employment Support Scheme (“ESS”) under the Anti-epidemic MEEERMESTE (MRMEE) B
Fund launched by the Hong Kong SAR Government supporting the B ARBEAEERENHE - BERF
payroll of the Group’s employees. Under the ESS, the Group had to MEFE AEBBERBRMRN N
commit to spend these grants on payroll expenses, and not reduce W BIEERBARAFCSEAEEAHSE
employee head count below prescribed levels for a specified period (B8 E KT o 2R S [ 30 4 £ L 51 8 5 B
of time. The Group does not have any unfulfilled obligations relating NEMRBITEE

to this program.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5kt ok (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFERIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 8. [R#anad
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BRIRATEAEMNR, GEA) UTRIE
2021 2020
—E_— TECEF
$°000 $000
FiT FiT
(a) Finance costs (@) BATEERA
Interest on bank loans and other RITERFE R EHAM
borrowing costs BERA 156,345 185,959
Less: Amount included in construction B EATERREEN
contracts in progress HE%E (13,185) (10,507)
Amount capitalised* BRI SR> (81,598) (108,124)
61,562 67,328
(b) Staff costs (including directors’ (b) BT
remuneration) (BIEEEFHM)
Salaries, wages and other benefits e IBEREMERN 134,445 129,067
Contributions to defined contribution REMTCRIAGTEIZ
retirement plans R 2,870 2,670
137,315 131,731
Less: Amount included in construction B ETATERRESN
contracts in progress %8 (38,594) (58,688)
Amount capitalised BARMCEEE (69,706) (47,922)
29,015 25,121
(c) Other items (c) HMmIER
Direct operating expenses arising from REBEMEEEWBA
investment properties that NEELZSHS
generated income 75,878 66,091
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment FEMR KR G EEN
loss) on trade receivables and contract BERTR, (B[R
assets (note 18(a)) 8) (H15£18() 93 (272)
Depreciation (note 15) e (Ha#15) 27,922 22,746
Short term leases expenses RHMRERX 4,936 3,849
Auditors’ remuneration ZEEMEN &
— audit services —BHIRTS 1,176 1,088
- other services —HMARTS 145 145
& The borrowing costs have been capitalised at the range of 1.63% to i BERSIREZT1.63%F2.88% (CE-F
2.88% (2020: 3.83% t0 4.68%) per annum £ 3.83%F4.68%)E AN
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5 e bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN ) B TTEIT)

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

9.

@)

Income tax in the consolidated statement of
profit or l0ss represents:

FRiSH 3
(@) MFERTmRABIMASERE

2021 2020
=1 —ETEF
$°000 $000
ST S
Current tax BNHAFR1E
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax FREBFESRER
for the year 47,196 24,139
Over-provision in respect of prior years @1+ EEBEEEE (664) (469)
46,532 23,670
Deferred tax IEIEIRIE
Credited to profit or loss FFARFEEETR
for the year (7,663) (14,227)
38,869 9,443

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British Virgin
Islands (“BVI") and the Cayman lIslands, the Group is not
subject to any income tax in the BVI and the Cayman Islands.

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at the rate 16.5% (2020:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong, except for the first $2,000,000 of qualified group
entity’s assessable profit is calculated at 8.25% (2020:
8.25%), which is in accordance with the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") on
Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the statutory tax rate of the
Group’s PRC subsidiaries is 25% (2020: 25%). The Group had
not generated any taxable profits in the PRC during the year
(2020: Nil).

RERBELEEMAEHSHNRARR
P AEEBAGMEBELEERFAS
BEMNEMAPPEHR-

ERNEBRIUNEBEENGSTERR
HRIR165% (CE_TF 1 16.5%) ZM=K
SAECBRIBERAGAMNERE 5 EKRE
B B2 > 52,000,0007T FE 52717 1% F1/1%8.25%
(CBEZEF  825%) 2 IREFTEbo

RIEFPZEARTME (THEL) BERERZE
(TEEMERZED) REEMESHRIABHIE
B> REEFEMBRBINEERER25%

“ETEEF25%) o AEERERTE
EHEEEEAERREH (20204 © ) ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5 R R b ok ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFERIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSES 9. FRfEMZH
(b) Reconciliation between income tax expense and (b) HERAMEABWAESHRAS
accounting profit before taxation at applicable BRI AT s F R B AR
tax rate:
2021 2020
—E-—F TETEF
$’000 $000
FiT Fr
Profit before taxation FRIG AT 187,904 43,272
Notional tax on profit before taxation, IZBRNREEEAEEE 2 G H]
calculated at the rate applicable to the ZMRIRE 118
profits in the jurisdictions concerned 30,765 7,140
Effect of non-taxable income EERBRBANTE (10,681) (21,117
Effect of non-deductible expenses AR E 15,307 19,267
Utilisation of tax losses previously B ERERIRIEEE
not recognised (31) (528)
Effect of unused tax losses AR RIBEENZE
not recognised 4,174 5,159
QOver provision in respect of prior years 81+ & [EHBEEEE (664) (469)
Others Hith (1) 9
Actual income tax expense ERFIERES 38,869 9,443
(c) Income tax in the consolidated statement of (0 ZEMBRRRRANFAERE
financial position represents:
(i)  current taxation (i) ZFHIRE
2021 2020
T —F —EIEF
$’000 $000
FiT FT
Provision for Hong Kong Profits B EF1SIRE#E
Tax for the year 47,196 24,139
Provisional Profits Tax paid B EAFER (14,549) (3,750)
32,647 20,389
Represented by: B
2021 2020
—T-—F “ETERF
$°000 3000
= FiT
Tax recoverable AU eI I8 (1,921) (3,338)
Tax payables FEIRIE 34,568 23,727
32,647 20,389
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5 e bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTHIT)

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continueqd) 9. FRSMXE &)
(c) Income tax in the consolidated statement of (0 HZEMBKARANEAERIE
financial position represents: (continuead) (&)

(i) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised (i) BEREEREEERSE
The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities RER & IRk NSV IR
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial IERRIE (B &) /8BB4 S
position and the movements during the year are as D RAERNEBMN T
follows:

Depreciation
allowances in
excess of
the related
depreciation Hedging
Deferred tax arising from: wERHRE Tax loss reserve Total
BERERE . ARERIE HIEEsE b= st
$000 $000 $000 $000
Fr F Fr F
At 1 April 2019 RZE-h&EMB—-A 50,867 (9,435) (3,215) 38217
Credited to other comprehensive HAEM2ENRE
income - - (3,035) (3,035)
Credited to the profit or loss HABR (1,453) (12,774) = (14,227)
At 31 March 2020 and RZE-Z&=H
1 April 2020 =+-BR=ZZ%fF
mA—H 49,414 (22,209) (6,250) 20,955
Charged to other comprehensive REMEENRE
income - - 845 845
Charged/(Credited) to the profitor loss 308,/ (Gt A) 8% 3,574 (11,237) - (7,663)
At 31 March 2021 RZE-—-%=8
=+-H 52,988 (33,446) (5,405) 14,137
2021 2020
—EZ—F —EIEHR
$°000 $000
FiT FT
Net deferred tax assets EiEE R R R AR
recognised on the RERIBE EIF R
consolidated statement of
financial position (38,985) (27,876)
Net deferred tax liabilities AR AV BRI RRAERN
recognised on the IR IE B (EFRE
consolidated statement of
financial position 53,122 48,831
14,137 20,955
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5 R R b ok ()

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFERIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

(d)

At 31 March 2021, the Group has not recognised deferred
tax assets in respect of unused tax losses of $442,829,000
(2020: $417,720,000) as it is not probable that sufficient
future taxable profits will be available against which the
unused tax losses can be utilised. The tax losses do not
expire under current tax legislation.

10. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(a)

Tax effects relating to cash flow hedges included
in other comprehensive income:

9. Frisxit (8

(d)

REZEZ—F=FB=1+—H HBARKXEX
TR FE SR E ) R A B BE RE S35 8 R 5B
BRRIEEE > AEBE M ER AR A
KR TEE$8442,829,0007C (ZEZZF
£ 1 417,720,00070) FERRIRIER IGE
E-RBRITMB AR MIBEHBER
BEHEAEm

10. Hith2E =
(@) ARStAHMEER@ZNRE

MEBHTHNRBLE

2021 2020

—E-—fF "E_ZHE

$°000 $000

FiT FiT

Pre-tax amount PRIG A58 5,125 (18,401)
Tax (charged)/credited R\ () SIwA (845) 3,035
Net-of-tax amount PRIGETEE 4,280 (15,366)

Components of other comprehensive income,

including reclassification adjustments

(b)

Hith 2 E R ARERERS (245

Cash flow hedges:
Effective portion of changes in
fair value of hedging instruments
recognised during the year
Net deferred tax (charged)/credited
to other comprehensive income

Net movement in the hedging reserve
during the year recognised in the
other comprehensive income

Exchange difference on translating
foreign operations

Changes in fair value of financial
assets at FVOCI

REREHH !

FAERENE P TRARTE

BERIA WD

BIEFRIE (OFR) BT A
H 2 m i m

REMEERZAERFER
R REBEEFR

BMEBINEFIER ZER

BAFESARtEERTDZ
THEEZ A TFEEY
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2021 2020
—E-—F TETEE
$°000 $°000

FT FiT

5,125 (18,401)
(845) 3,035

4,280 (15,366)
2,262 (587)
1,775 (2,596)
8,317 (18,549)




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5 e bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTHIT)

11. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 11. EEFH
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors were as ENHENTEREZTZHMAOT !
follows:
2021
—EC-f
Basic salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits scheme
Fees in kind Bonuses contributions Total
BExEs
EER
s BUERN TE4L  BIREHEIHEM iz
$°000 $'000 $'000 $°000 $'000
Fr Fi ¥ F ¥
Executive Directors HiTER
Chan Hung Ming BRFLEA - 2,527 624 - 3,151
Lau Chi Wah 25 = 2,527 624 18 3,169
Yuen Ying Wai R - 2,604 624 18 3,246
Kwan Wing Wo B! - 2,479 591 18 3,088
Independent BUFRTES
Non-Executive Directors
Tsui KaWah BRE 356 - 88 - 444
Kan Yau Wo R 356 - 88 - 444
Mok Kwai Pui Bill EEZ 356 - 88 - 444
Lee Chung Yiu Johnny TRE 356 - 88 - 444
Total st 1,424 10,137 2,815 54 14,430
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

WA B H R b ok (A4)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFERIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 11.

ERHM E
2020
e

Basic salaries,

allowances Retirement
and benefits scheme
Fees inkind Bonuses  contributions Total
BEXEs
R
itk BWERH TEAL  RIRHEIER st
Sooo $000 $oo0 Sooo $000
T T T F T
Executive Directors HTER
Chan Hung Ming BR7LEA - 2,325 945 - 3,270
Lau Chi Wah fEE - 2,325 945 18 3,288
Yuen Ying Wai RER - 2,325 945 18 3,288
Kwan Wing Wo FAK A - 2,198 893 18 3,109
Independent BUERTES
Non-Executive Directors
Tsui Ka Wah HxE 327 - 133 - 460
Kan Yau Wo B 327 - 133 - 460
Mok Kwai Pui Bill RER 327 - 133 - 460
Lee Chung Yiu Johnny TRIE 327 - 133 - 460
Total F 1,308 9173 4,260 54 14,795

No director received any emoluments from the Group as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office during the year. No director waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments during the years ended 31 March 2021 and
2020.

The Company did not operate any share option scheme for the

purchase of ordinary shares in the Company during the years
ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

A5 H R b ok (A)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTHIT)

12. EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST PAID 12.

INDIVIDUALS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

(@)

Emoluments of five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year
ended 31 March 2021 include 4 (2020: 4) directors whose
emoluments are disclosed in note 11. The aggregate of the
emoluments in respect of the remaining individual is as

EaEaHMALTRESREEEMN

&

(@) DEmSHMALIE
BE_Z_—F=ZA=+—HLHE
ErAERLseHMALTEED
BCEIRE MR ER HMER

MHEE113% 58 - H ek A T RYBN S4B 8R40

follows: T
2021 2020
—¥Z—F B EF
$’000 $'000
FT F7T
Salaries, allowances and e RIEREYIEF
benefits in kind 3,047 2,802
Discretionary bonuses B 15 TEAL 724 2,817
Retirement scheme contributions BARET B R 18 18
3,789 5,637
The above individual's emoluments are within the following EATEEEHENT -
band:
2021 2020
—E—F - -2
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A A&
$3,500,001 to $4,000,000 3,500,0017% % 4,000,000 1 -
$5,500,001 to $6,000,000 5,500,0017% % 6,000,0007¢ = 1

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join, or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office for
the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil)

EMHSE PR A TR A F] 2020721 E#HRES

BEE_ S _—F=-A=+—81%=
FE > R S [ 30 48 (0] 1 o] 1L &% 1= v B
AT ERMESEARS|I DA ARE
B IA RSB EARE
BaE (CE_2F  HFE) o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

WA B H R b ok (A4)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

CRFFRIEERRSN > LUBTTHIT)

12. EMOLUMENTS OF FIVE HIGHEST PAID 12. AABREHFMALTRSREEEM
INDIVIDUALS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT & #&)
(continued)
(b) Emoluments of senior management b)) SREERINE

Other than the emoluments of the Directors and five
highest paid individuals disclosed in notes 11 and 12(a), the
emoluments of the remaining senior management fell within

the following bands:

BRICHsE1TR12@FIRENES A
fUsEFHMA LM F TR
EEENMEEN TIEER :

2021 2020

—EZ—F —ETEF

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

A# A

$1,000,000 to $1,500,000 1,000,0017c 2 1,500,0007T - 1
$1,500,001 to $2,000,000 1,500,001t 22,000,0007¢ 1 1
$2,000,001 to $2,500,000 2,000,001t 22,500,0007T - 1
$2,500,001 to $3,000,000 2,500,0017t & 3,000,0007T 1 -

No emoluments were paid for the year by the Group to any
of its senior management as an inducement to join, or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office for

the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).

BE_Z”_—F=ZA=+—HL#HF
EAERTEREASRERES
HEABEERRSIMATER IR
A BRI R R S BE R E

(CEoEEm o

13. DIVIDENDS 13. RE
(@) Dividends attributable to the year: (@) BREAFENKRES:
2021 2020
—E-—F —EBTER
$’000 $000
FiT FT
Interim dividend declared and paid of *5)&&§EHEGEPHHH§ =)
4.0 HK cents (2020: 4.0 HK cents) FRABW CEEF
per share 4.07810) 56,782 28,391
Special interim dividend declared of E“ﬁi)ﬁﬁ’]’-#—*rEIJﬂPﬁﬁﬁ EEK
Nil (2020: 50.0 HK cents) per share 2 (ZEZEF 1 50.081) - 354,885
Final dividend proposed after the end  RIREHIRBEZIRE
of the reporting period of 4.0 HK cents Xﬂﬁﬁ BSR40
(2020: 4.0 HK cents) per share TETEE 408D 56,782 28,391
113,564 411,667

The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting
period has not been recognised as a liability at the end of the

reporting period.

112

GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21

RBEARREZRIE Z KRR EH
RERSHRERRER-



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5 e bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTHIT)

13. DIVIDENDS (continued)

(b)

Dividend approved and paid after the end of the
reporting period:

On 14 May 2021, the Board resolved to declare a special
interim dividend of 20.0 HK cents per share, amounting to
approximately $283,908,000 in total, to the shareholders
whose names appeared on the register of members of the
Company on 2 June 2021. The special interim dividend has

13. BR #&)

(b)

PRER S HAR B HE A R 3 BV AR
B

T:iﬁ':—ﬁﬁ)ﬂ%—ma P EBEEIR

FEAN_E_—FA_HRBIER
7Hy%%ﬂﬂﬂ’]ﬁx%iﬁ%%ﬁ'ﬂjﬁﬁﬁx
E&8%20.071l » £ 5149283,900,000
JT °© '-*r?f/?'JEPHHH”%ﬁAiEiHHEEﬁHEEE

not been recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting ReBE TR —F A+
period and had been paid on 16 June 2021. HIKA{T o
Dividends attributable to the previous financial (00 MEFEEHERZABIR E—
year, approved and paid during the year: B BEENKRE :
2021 2020
—E=—F “BTBF
$°000 $°000
FiT F7z
Final dividend in respect of the FRMERSZ TN E—HREE
previous financial year, approved K HR PG B & RS4.03
and paid during the year of 4.0 HK (CE-BF : 5881)
cents (2020: 5.8 HK cents) per share 28,391 41,167
14. EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. SREF
Reported earnings per share (@) EREFITZERET

(@)

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the
profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
of $149,035,000 (2020: $33,829,000) and the weighted
average number of 1,419,542,346 shares (2020 (restated):
1,419,542,346 shares) in issue during the year. Basic and
diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 March 2020
have been restated for the impact of bonus issue of shares
effected in August 2020.

Diluted earnings per share are the same as the basic
earnings per share as the Company had no dilutive potential
shares in existence during the years ended 31 March 2021
and 2020.

EMHSE PR A TR A F] 2020721 E#HRES

EREABANDBERATERRE
FE{53%71149,035,00070 (ZE B4 :
33,829,0007T) K F A E TG BIN
RET 801,419,542, 3460% (Z B T4
(EF) :1,419,542,3465%) st & - 5=
TECEFE-RBA=-+—HIEFESR
BEARBERIERIE-_Z_ZEN
BALRR BT R ERE -

HEZ-GFRZZEZEF=AH
—+—HIEFERE ARELEE
EEERG WEREERAHGR
EARBFAER -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFERIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

114

(b)

Underlying earnings per share

For the purpose of assessing the underlying performance
of the Group, basic and diluted earnings per share are also
presented based on the underlying profit attributable to
equity shareholders of the Company of $147,646,000 (2020:
$44,173,000), which excludes the effects of changes in fair
value of investment properties. A reconciliation of profit is as
follows:

(b)

14. EREF @)

ERERZR
EATGEAERERERRE &
RENREERTIZE MR EYZE
NEEEH T ENRRBERIRE
FE(E 2~ B R)147,646,0007T (Z &
T4 1 44,173,00070) st E A [F B
25 omFZ HEIRWT ¢

2021 2020

—E-—F —ETER

$’000 $°000

FiT FT

Profit for the year FRimA] 149,035 33,829
Changes in fair value of investment KREMERNFEES)

properties (1,389) 10,344

Underlying profit for the year FREREF] 147,646 44,173
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5 e bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTHIT)

15. FIXED ASSETS 15. BIEEE
Investment Furniture,
properties fixtures and
under Buildings ~other fixed Assets
Investment  development held for assets under
properties BEm Sub-total ownuse fxfil-%ER  construction Sub-total Total
KENZ REnE It ERYE HftETEE REE it &3t
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
7 z 7 z 7 iz 7 iz
Cost or valuation: A fEE:
At 1 April 2020 RZEZEENA-A 3,643,000 - 3,643,000 867,807 58,811 - 926,618 4,569,618
Adltions HE 44,595 397,716 442,311 = 2,032 = 2,032 444,343
Surplus on revaluation EftRE 405 984 1,389 - - - - 1,389
Exchange adjustment ERHE - - - 576 79 - 655 655
Written-off/disposal Rt/ HE - - - - (346) - (346) (346)
At 31 March 2021 RIRZ-£ZF=1-H | 73,768§,@07 - 739!,77007 B 741)8&,77007 - 786@3@37 - 769,5776 777777 - 792@97597 B 751)1}67597
Representing: BT
Cost [ - - - 868,383 60,576 - 928,959 928,959
Valuation e 3,688,000 398,700 4,086,700 - - - - 4,086,700
3,688,000 398,700 4,086,700 868,383 60,576 - 928,959 5,105,659
Accumulated depreciation: RHIE:
At 1 April 2020 RZEZEENA-A - - - 41,148 19,696 - 60,844 60,844
Charge for the year frotedfc) EAZY WE50) - - - 18,520 9,402 - 27922 27922
Exchange adjustment ERHE - - - 3 - - 3 3
Written-off/disposal Rt/ HE - - - - (215) - (215) (215)
At 31 March 2021 RZBZ-F2R=+-B - - - 752,67917 - 72§,i§3 777777 - 78@57747 - 78§,57747
Net ook value: REBEE:
At 31 March 2021 RZE_-£=F=1-H 3,688,000 398,700 4,086,700 808,692 31,693 - 840,385 4,927,085
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15. FIXED ASSETS (continued) 15. BEIE&EE (&)

116

Investment Furniture,
properties fixtures and
under Buildings other fixed Assets

Investment ~ development held for assets Under

properties EEm Sub-total omuse RACEER  construction Sub-total Total

b bES RENE Nt BRYME  HtEREE W fREE gt &3t

$000 S0 Sow St $000 $000 Sow $000

Cost or valuation: A fE:
At 1 April 2019 RIE-NEMF-H 3,595,000 - 3,595,000 860,652 79 23,894 902,467 4,497 467
Additions AE 58,344 - 58,344 50 5673 1,039 16,762 75,106
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEHEAR - - - 7,19 299 - 7489 7489
Deficit on revaluation ! (10,344) - (10,344) - - - - (10,344)
Transfer E - - - - 34,933 (31933) - -
Exchange adjustment ERHE - - - (89) (15) - (100 (100
At31 March 2020 NZE-£=A=+-H L - 3eB0 s sen - MEB A59s8
Representing: e
Cost A - = = 867,807 58,811 - 926,618 926,618
Valuation &E 3,643,000 - 3,643,000 - - - - 3,643,000

3603000 - 3613000 87807 58811 - Vo618 4569418
Accumulated depreciation: ZHIE:
At 1 April 2019 RZE-hENE-H - - - 2870 14,189 - 38,099 38,099
Charge for the year frote8c) ERZH (E80) = - - 172% 5,507 - 0746 2,76
Exchange adjustment EREE = = = () = = () (1)
At 31 March 2020 RIBZEZA=+-B pi— A - 41,%187 o 1‘)@6 777777 S @@Mﬁ o 760,781% -
Net ook value: REEE: =
At 31 March 2020 RIEZEE=A=1-H 3,643,000 - 3643000 826,659 39,115 - 85,774 4,508,774
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5 e bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN ) B TTEIT)

15. FIXED ASSETS (continued)

(@)

The fair value of the Group's investment properties and
investment properties under development is Level 3
recurring fair value measurements. The movement of these
balances are as follows:

15. EIEEE &
(@) AEMUBREYERBRTIBEYL
A TEBSE = RCE AT EE
Bo L SEBRNBEHNT

2021 2020

A — B BaEs

$’000 $000

FiT T

At 1 April RmAE—H 3,643,000 3,595,000
Additions RE 442,311 58,344
Fair value adjustment NEEFE 1,389 (10,344)
At 31 March H=A=+—82 4,086,700 3,643,000

The fair value adjustment of investment properties and
investment properties under development is recognised in
the line item “Changes in fair value of investment properties”
on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or
out of Level 3.

The Group's investment properties and investment
properties under development were revalued at the
reporting date by Colliers International (Hong Kong) Limited,
an independent firm of qualified professional valuer, who
have among their staff Members of the Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors with recent experience in the location and
category of property being valued, on a market value
basis. The management of the Group has discussion with
the surveyors on the valuation assumptions and valuation
results when the valuation is performed at each interim and
annual reporting date.

IMERERDPREMEN AT EFERLR

B
BERmRNIRENEZ AT EEE BN -

A TE T —F-HA=+—HIFERRNF R
B iz BN EE R IR A S ZREA D
o

AEENKENERERTREMEHBILR
BT HERMEER (58) BRAR (H&
TETHATAAEMNBEEEE  HWEEDYE
BYMEEANE R A LG ELR) HHEREER
BREAMBEE AEREEENSETRRFE
REARETHERRGEERRREGESRA
ZELEMET R
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5kt ok (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFERIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

15. FIXED ASSETS (continuea) 15. BEEE (&
(@  (continued) @ @)
The following table shows the significant unobservable T RARGEG ENERN TR
inputs used in the valuation model: Bk -
Properties Valuation techniques Unobservable inputs Adopted rate
mE ftER % FARRYE BiEMtLE
2021 2020
—E--fF —ETEF
Investment properties
REME
- Data centres Income approach - discounted  Risk-adjusted discount rate 7.75% 7.75%
—EEHRD cash flow analysis RBRR AR
WAE-BERRERENT
Expected market rental growth 3.5% 3.5%
RHmBEHEER
Expected occupancy rate 82%-100% 60% -100%
Bt
Capitalisation rate 4.25% 4.25%
N[

]18 GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5 e bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN ) B TTEIT)

15. FIXED ASSETS (continued)

(@)

(continued)

The fair value of investment properties is determined on
the basis of capitalisation of discounted cash flow analysis
by discounting a projected cash flow series associated
with the properties using risk-adjusted discount rates.
The valuation takes into account expected market rental
growth and occupancy rates of the properties. The discount
rates used have been adjusted for the quality and location
of the buildings and the tenant credit quality. The fair
value measurement of investment properties is positively
correlated to the expected market rental growth and the
occupancy rate and negatively correlated to the risk-
adjusted discount rate and capitalisation rate.

The fair value of investment properties under development
is determined using residual method. This method involves
firstly the assessment of gross development value, which
is determined using the same basis in determining the fair
value of investment properties, on the assumption that the
property had already been completed in accordance with
the current development plan on the valuation date, less the
estimated development costs together with an allowance for
developer’s profits and risk. The resultant residue figure is
the fair value.

Estimated costs to completion, including costs of
construction, land premium on lease modification,
professional fee, finance costs and associated costs, plus an
allowance for developer’s risk and profit, estimated by the
valuer based on market conditions at the reporting date.

The fair value measurement of investment properties
under development is positively correlated to the expected
monthly rental, market rental growth and occupancy
rate, and negatively correlated to the estimated cost to
completion of $3,582 million.

15. EIEEE &

@)

EMHSE PR A TR A F] 2020721 E#HRES

()

REMEZ A FETDREERRESM
BERNMEONEE  BEDTUER
JR B s R B AL B R R IR B 2 F W) R AR R
W—RIBARERE-HEEZEE
ZEYENTRRATHHHE SRS KR LHE
Ko FANMREXEABREAAEN
BERMBEUARBRHNEERRE
R oREVMENALTEFERBHD
HEEERER HERZ IEEAARIE
MmeREBRABEMRENEAEXREG
EAERE M

LRPKREVEZ AFEDRREX
BE LA EE A EREREE KR
FRREEERBEVEATE-—HNE
M REMEEGHEDCRERD
BRETBEA) CHNREERRERY
B AN A DURe 38 P 7 2 ) T e JEL B
B BHZBRBOAFEE.

HEMEREHNT SR EEYE
BITE LAl (BFEZ A A BT 24
ZIMEE -EXER FEREM
MERARES2) LUK 3 R i 2 AR e R B
e

BRPKEVENAFET2HETEE
SRS MEHESREREEXE
IFEAARRME  MEGEEEST TR
(35.82127T) 2EmAERAME
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

WA B H R b ok (A4)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFERIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

15. FIXED ASSETS (continueq) 15.

(b)  The Group leases out a number of building facilities under
operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial term of
3.5 t0 20 years, with an option to renew the lease after that
date at which time terms are renegotiated.

All properties held under operating leases that would
otherwise meet the definition of investment property are
classified as investment properties.

The Group's total future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases are receivable as follows:

EEEE (&
() FEERECEHESIALEETE

Fifc ZFHE—RIT BHIS5E
205 WHBEZR MR EGEQ
FRy 54T 12 B AR X o

FREMEUCERESAFAREEHR
A ENERENEZERTE N
mIREWE -

FEBERBAIIRHEEAENR AR
R RERAEREBENT

2021 2020

—E—F —ETER

$’000 $°000

F Fz

Within 1 year —FRN 117,667 140,392
After 1 year but within 2 years —FEBEIER 189,564 121,917
After 2 years but within 3 years “HFBE=FR 173,088 140,175
After 3 years but within 4 years —FBREOAFRN 168,122 130,368
After 4 years but within 5 years MERERFRN 120,935 124,185
After 5 years LF#E 394,560 253,857
1,223,936 910,894

() The Group's investment properties are situated in Hong Kong
and held under medium-term leases.

(d) The carrying amounts of the Group’s building held for own
use located at:

FEEZREMEURETERUTH
MAFA -

ETAM AU T ARISTE 2B BY
HIRMEE

2021 2020

—E—F —EBCEHF

$’000 $°000

FiT Fz

Medium-term leases in Hong Kong REAZ AL 802,502 860,702
Medium-term leases land use rights in 53R 2 R HA £ 3th {85 FH 48

the PRC 6,190 7,105

808,692 867,807

(e) Certain of the Group’s building held for own use and
investment properties were pledged against bank loans,
details of which are set out in note 21(a).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5 e bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN ) B TTEIT)

16.

INVENTORIES OF PROPERTIES

16. YEES

2021 2020
S E—iT = s
$’000 $000
=TT i
Properties under development located in IR EBNERPYE
Hong Kong 2,779,922 1,850,399
Properties held for sales located in R BEBRPENFEFHE
Hong Kong and PRC /S 422,986 535,284
3,202,908 2,385,683
(@)  Except for an amount of $154,503,000 (2020: $1,850,399,000) @ KBRR_Z2EZ_—F=ZA=+—H%
as at 31 March 2021, which is expected to be recovered #154,503,000c (ZE_Z & :
after one year, all the remaining balances of properties under 1,850,399,0007t) BV E B R £ FEHAR
development are expected to be recovered within one year. —E BB R T AERTEEN —&F
ASPEIS
(b) At 31 March 2021, leasehold land included in the properties by RZEZ—F=ZB=+—H0 %
under development for sales amounted to $1,078,880,000 B xRN 2HELTHEE

(2020: $938,880,000).

#1,078,880,0007 ¢ (ZE T & !
938,880,0007T) ©

() At 31 March 2020, certain of the Group’s inventories of © RIE_ZE=F=+—H'*%H
properties were pledged against bank loans, detail of which ETYEGEESEFURERTE
are set out in note 21(a). The pledge was released during FY M BRAF BN MEE21(a) o R IE IR
2020/21. B F2020/21E FE R B o

ERRERRARAR 2020215 EEs 121



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

WA B H R b ok (A4)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFERIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

17. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES 17. BHNEERENE®RE
(@) Contract assets (@) BHEE
2021 2020
—_E-—% —ECE
$°000 $000
FiT S
Contract assets arising from EEEsELEN
building construction: SHBE:
Right to consideration WA BRI RER 222,106 154,205
Retention receivables ERREE 87,430 74,098
309,536 228,303

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount
of contract assets includes payment schedules which
require stage payments over the construction period once
milestones are reached. These payment schedules prevent
the build-up of significant contract assets. Additionally, the
Group typically committed to retain on 5% of the contract
sum for 1 to 3 years as retention period, which is kept in
contract assets until the end of the retention period as the
Group's entitlement to the amount is still conditional.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract
assets is as follows:

FEOGHNBEETRN—RZMFERE
E—BRERPHERETREER
BRI ZA (F B BRI MBI T R B 2 o Ut
ENRAEMLEBERERSNEE-
AEEBETEEREEGHEEESD
RENEE RIIEIFERERE
RARTEBRNERRT LRETM
BBWARSAIIEE-

W Rl AR SNEENTR R
LI

2021 2020

—ET-— —EEFHF

$°000 $000

FT Fz

Within one year —FR 222,106 154,205
More than one year and less than two years ~—&E%&B_FR 87,430 74,098
309,536 228,303
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5 e bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTHIT)

17. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES 17. BHNEERENEE &)

(continued)
(@) Contract assets (continued) (@ aNEE @)
Movements in contract assets BAIEEREE)
2021 2020
e — B ey
$°000 $000
Fz G
Balance as at 1April RO AE—H4&eR 228,303 196,173
Addition during the year REEARMN 134,758 507,892
Reclassification to receivables B LEEREKREIE (53,252) (475,762)
Balance at 31 March R=BA=+—R#%&& 309,536 228,303
(b) Contract liabilities by &s8986E
2021 2020
—EZ—F “EIEH
$000 $000
FiT FiT
Deposits from sales of properties HEMENFTE 2,878,029 2,159,022
Typically deposits and instalments received in accordance S BREEEMERERN—IER
to the payment term as stipulated in the sales and purchase T EERESNEENSE-BEE
agreement for pre-sales of properties which are classified ZEENEFTIRBBER ZAD
as contract liabilities. These will remain as contract liabilities il —BERRIEAENERE.
until the control of ownership to these properties is
transferred to the customers.
Movements in contract liabilities BHIEERES)
2021 2020
—E—— TECEF
$°000 $000
FiT FT
Balance as at 1 April RIOA—H 46k 2,159,022 25,555
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of R A FE SR IR &=
recognising revenue during the year that LEPEF AN
was included in the contract liabilities at =LY
the beginning of the year (112,400) (4,398)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of RFERNHEME
receiving deposits and instalments during W ERE &= M D HEFh I8
the year from sales of properties LHENBEEM 831,407 2,137,865
Balance at 31 March R=B=+—B#& 2,878,029 2,159,022

ENRER R AR AT 20202155 123



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5kt ok (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFERIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

18. FEURARTR B H fth FE kIR

2021 2020

—E-—F TETEF

$000 $000

FiT FEE

Trade receivables (note (j) FEUSRBR TR (Z£() 28,394 89,491
Less: Loss allowance B BEIREE (252) (159)
28,142 89,332

Deposits, prepayments and B FAMHIER

other receivables HAuhEW=IE 83,513 73,213
Contract costs (note (i) BHRIR A (FE ) 105,422 7,615
217,077 170,160

Note:.

Except for an amount of $12,934,000 (2020: $15,595,000) as at 31
March 2021, which is expected to be recovered after one year, all
of the remaining balances are expected to be recovered within one
year.

Contract costs capitalised as at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020
relate to the commission paid to intermediaries in connection to
their selling activities resulted in customers entering into sale and
purchase agreements for the Group’s properties which are still
under construction or ownership of these properties are not yet
transferred at the reporting date.

Contract costs are recognised as part of selling expenses in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in
which revenue from the related property sales is recognised.
No capitalised costs are recognised in profit or loss during the
year (2020: Nil). There is no impairment in relation to the costs
capitalised during FY 2021 and FY 2020.

]24 GRAND MING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5 e bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN » UBTTHIT)

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 18. EURERR R Bt FEURFRIE (&)
The aging analysis of the Group's trade receivables (net of loss RREZH A EARERBUWERR GOFRE
allowance), based on invoice dates, is as follows: B R ST ¢

2021 2020

o e e L

$°000 $000

Sl i

Less than 1 month DR —ER 23,347 87,388

More than 1 month but less than 3 months  BE—EB B/ LR =@E3 4,586 1,710

More than 3 months but less than 6 months 8@ =18 8/bi /<@ 8 - 176

More than é months HBiE 7N E s 209 58

28,142 89,332

The movement of the loss allowance during the year is as follows: FREBREENESHINT

2021 2020

—E=—F “ETTE

$°000 $000

FiT Fir

At 1 April REA—H 159 431

Impairment loss recognised/(reversal of BRRERE (LR ERE)

impairment loss) (note 8(c)) (H15£8(c) 93 (272)
At 31 March R=ZB=+—H 252 159

The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither A SR AE B 3 H B AR E B R E R FE IR ER AU RY

individually nor collectively considered to be impaired are as IREE DT -
follows:
2021 2020
—E-—F —EIEH
$’000 $000
FiT FT
Neither past due nor impaired BERBHATR R B E 23,347 87,388
Less than 1 month past due wH DR —EA 4,212 614
Over 1 month but less than mifEE—EABLK=EA
3 months past due 374 1,096
Over 3 months but less than BH=EAELVRER
6 months past due - 176
Over 6 months but less than mHENERELR+ @A
12 months past due 10 12
Over 12 months past due BHAEB+ @A 199 46
28,142 89,332

ENRER R AR AT 20202155 12D



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5kt ok (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFERIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

19. RESTRICTED AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS AND CASH  19. FE%U&E?&WT?%’)U—X&EEE&E

AND BANK BALANCES 17458
2021 2020
$’000 $ 000
FiT FT
Cash and bank balance RE& MIRTTHARR 864,502 1,153,545
Fixed deposits EHIER 257,517 1,053,545
o 1122019 2,207,090 _

Less: W

Pledged deposits (note (i) BEIEFRER GE0) (494,892) (100,966)

Restricted deposits (note (i) ZEREIFERR (FE3) (257,517) (2,026,065)

_ (752,409)  (2127,031)

Cash and bank balances as stated in the FEEMBRREANNIRE RIRTT

consolidated statement of financial EHRREERERERANIR

position and cash and cash equivalents ERIREEEY

as stated in the consolidated cash flows

statement 369,610 80,059

Notes: i

(i)  These balances represent bank deposits pledged to secure banks (i) fﬁii??aﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂaf’ﬁﬁﬂxiﬁ%%fﬁhié
loans of the Group (see note 21(a)). RHIEFE (BHEE21(

(i)  These balances represent proceeds received from sales of (i) HCEERISHEYEMSRBEEALEEN
properties of a property project deposited into a designated IRITRP - BENARZEREEZ
bank account. The deposits are limited to settle payments for BEE MMEEERAIRRETERNF
construction cost, interest and repayment of secured bank loans BRAE -

corresponding to that property project.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

A5 H R b ok (A)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN ) B TTEIT)

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

20. FE(IERFM B E (IR

2021 2020

SR T—1F —ZEF
$’000 $000
e ST
Trade payables FE{TER TR 203,037 103,250
Other payables and accrued charges HtEA B EE A 26,670 63,983
Rental and other deposits (note (i) M REAMIZE GH) 3,074 1,900
Rent receipts in advance BT S 9,274 5,341
Retentions payables (rote (i) FE(TIRE S (i) 117,283 77,651
359,338 252,125

(i) Except as disclosed in notes (i) and (iii) below, all of the trade and
other payables are expected to be settled within one year.

(i) All of the rental and other deposits as at 31 March 2021 and 2020
are expected to be settled after one year.

(i) Except for an amount of $65,443,000 (2020: $37,745,000) as at 31
March 2021, which is expected to be settled after one year, all of
the remaining balances are expected to be settled within one year.

The ageing analysis of the Group's trade payables, based on
invoice dates, is as follows:

() BRTFHIEEGDR(iPRIEEEE SN P (T
IR H M RIBTREAN — F a5 o

(i FAER-_BE_—FE_ZE_ZTF=H-H
= t+—HZzHEEREMRSEF N —F%

+
fEige

iy BRZIZEZ-—F=ZB=+—HAHK
65,443,000 (ZEZF 4 © 37,745,0007T)
BIRIBTAS N —ERE BN 8- T EERTE
HIR—EREB

RIFER QAT EAEBRIRMBRE
DT

2021 2020

—E-— -
$000 $000
FiT =T
Less than 1 month DR —1EA 202,483 102,406
More than 1 month but less than 3 months  BiB—EAEB/ LR =@ 533 844
More than 3 months but less than 6 months  #B@ =188 B/t~ E 8 21 -
203,037 103,250

ENRER R AR AT 20202155 127



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5kt ok (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFERIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

21. BANK LOANS 21. IRITEM
2021 2020
—E—% —ECE
$’000 $°000
=TT FT
Bank loans RITEMN
- Secured — B iR 3,951,901 4,202,198
— Unsecured — IR 53,000 65,569
4,004,901 4,267,767
The bank loans are repayable as follows: IRITEFBERUWTFAERER .
2021 2020
—EZ—F TEITHE
$’000 $°000
FiT FT
Within 1 year or on demand and —FRHEEREER
included in current liabilities FIARENEE . 2,512,262 664,496
After 1 year and included in —FRBERINAIFRBERE
non-current liabilities:
After 1 year but within 2 years —FBREMRFERN 1,025,943 2,032,982
After 2 years but within 5 years MEREBRFR 363,786 1,459,515
After 5 years AR 102,910 110,774
___ 1492639 . 3,603,271
4,004,901 4,267,767
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

A5 H R b ok (A)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

BRIEFRIEEBRIN » LUBTTEM)
21. BANK LOANS (continueq)

21.

(@ At 31 March 2021, the bank loans bear interest ranging from
1.63% t0 2.88% (2020: 3.58% t0 4.68%) per annum and are

secured by the following assets:

IRITEM (&)

(G T e = =i by b s T R
T ER KN F1.63%E2.88% (Z=
I 1 3.58%F4.68%), 1 L FHE
EVEEMR

2021 2020

T — TEBTEE

$’000 $000

FiT T

Investment properties BEYE 4,086,700 3,643,000

Property, plant and equipment LEN =Y 802,501 819,646
Financial asset at FVOCI BAFES AHMEE RS

ZEMBEE 11,889 10,114

Inventories of properties MEEFS - 1,850,399

Pledged deposits BEIEFER 494,892 100,966

Other assets Hth&EE 31,734 39,782

5,427,716 6,463,907

In addition, at 31 March 2021, the banking facilities of the

Group were secured by the following:

assignment of project proceeds, project insurance
and fire insurance policies for certain construction
contracts in relation to certain banking facilities
granted to the Group with maximum amount of
$300,000,000 (2020: $300,000,000);

assignment of all rentals and all other moneys,
sales proceeds and insurance over the investment
properties of the Group in relation to certain bank
loans granted to the Group with carrying amount of
$2,254,200,000 (2020: $2,254,200,000); and

share mortgages over the entire issued and paid-up
share capital of certain subsidiaries.

v R B —F=B=+—H ' &~EE
BIRTTRAE TS LTSI B FH#R ©

— BERETRESHNMEBRENR
B-IBEEHBRNRRERE > ©AE
BEERETRTRE HES S
%8 4300,000,00070c (ZE &£ .
300,000,0007T);

— BELAEEREVENAREEEZR

FRAERIE i EFERIEMU KR RE
LAREFEERETIRTER HIRE
E42,254,200,00070 (Z B - T :
2,254,200,0007T) ; K

— ETHBRAINEZMEHTREER

AEE RN TR o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5kt ok (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFERIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

21. BANK LOANS (continued)

(D)

Certain of the Group's banking facilities are subject to the
fulfilment of covenants relating to certain ratios as are
commonly found in lending arrangements with financial
institutions. If the Group were to breach the covenants the
drawn down facilities would become repayable on demand.
The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these
covenants. As long as the Group complies these covenants,
it is considered that the respective drawn down facilities will
not be repaid on demand.

As the Group's current ratio as at 31 March 2021 was lower
than that required by these covenants, the Group did not
fulfil the covenant requirement relating to certain bank loans
amounted to $127,265,000, of which $119,525,000 has been
reclassified from non-current liabilities to current liabilities
as a result of the breach. Subsequent to the end of the
reporting period, the Group received the waiver from the
relevant bank in relation to the above breach of covenants.

The Group has fulfilled all of the covenants under loan
agreements with banks during FY 2019/20.

Further details of the Group’s management of liquidity risk
are set out in note 29(b).

21. iR
(o)
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Eigo
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5 e bk (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFFRIEERRIN ) B TTEIT)

22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 22. fTEERITA
2021 2020
SR i 2=z
$’000 $000
=TT i

Cash flow hedges: interest rate swaps REREHP | FIRBHEL (32,763) (37,888)

Represented by: 717 re

Current assets MBNEE = 3

Current liabilities mEaE (17,512) -

Non-current liabilities ERENEE (15,251) (37,896)

(32,763) (37,888)

(@ The notional principal amounts of derivative financial (@ MPHREPARREENTEERTIAN
instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting period LEAREEEENT
are as follows:

2021 2020

—E-—F 2R

$’000 $000

FiT FT

Interest rate swaps (note 29(c)(;)) MEBHBE 4 (I a229(c)() 2,137,776 1,625,186

(b) Derivative financial assets/liabilities represent the amounts ) TTEESMEE BEEASEEMPEK
the Group would receive/pay if the positions were closed SR FARRERE S (IHNRIE
at the end of the reporting period respectively. Derivative AREBERETESE ARG HENTT
financial instruments that did not qualify for hedge SERTARAEAFENHEEZEFHE
accounting and their corresponding changes in fair values RIEm S
have been recognised in the profit or loss.

(c)  All derivative financial instruments qualified for hedge (€0 FEFAERETREREHPE
accounting were deemed effective for cash flow hedge AENTTESRTANABNEHIRE
purposes and no ineffective portion was recognised in profit e FIEYE A | ER 9 522020/21
or loss for the FY 2020/21 and FY 2019/20. F22019/205F EERESR R 185 ©

ERRERRARAR 202025 E5s 131



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
W5kt ok (A7)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
FRFERIEERRIN » LUBTTEIT)

23. BUSINESS ACQUISITION UNDER COMMON 23. HEEHITREFUEE

CONTROL

On 18 January 2020, the Group, through a wholly-owned
subsidiary, entered into an agreement with connected persons
to acquire the entire equity interest of Grand Victor Enterprises
Limited together with its wholly-owned subsidiary, Guangxi Jiaming
Property Development Co. Ltd. (collectively referred to as “Grand
Victor Group”), and the shareholder’s loan, at an aggregate cash
consideration of $18,800,000. Grand Victor Group is principally
engaged in property development in the PRC. The acquisition was
made with the aims to expand the Group’s existing operation and
market presence in Hong Kong to other locations.

Acquisition method under HKFRS 3 was applied for business
combination under common control as the management
considered that the underlying concept of this method is relevant
to similar transactions for where acquirers obtain new synergies
and control over the new business, which the management
expects the acquisition would bring in economic changes to the
Group. The transaction was completed on 21 January 2020.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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23. BUSINESS ACQUISITION UNDER COMMON 23. HEEHITHEZWE &)
CONTROL (continued)
The fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of Grand Victor BREERR _ T _ZF—HB_+—HNA
Group as at 21 January 2020 were: HABENMBBEZATES !
$000
47
Property, plant and equipment MEE- BB R B 7,489
Inventories of properties MEFES 3,620
Other receivables HuhpE U sIE 637
Pledged deposit EIRER 44,549
Cash and bank balances HERIBITHERR 5,647
Bank loans RITER (42,920)
Other payables HMENRIE (222)
Shareholder’s loan BRERER (18,371)
429
Assignment of shareholder’s loan EHIERRER 18,371
Net assets acquired W2 FEE 18,800
Total consideration satisfied by: BERBUTIIZM
Cash He 18,800
Net cash flow arising on acquisition: WEEEZHREFIMRE
Cash and bank balances acquired W iE 2 IR & M IRTT A ER 5,647
Cash paid WEX (18,800)
(13,153)
MR AR AT 2020215 EES 133
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S (Continued)

24. SHARE CAPITAL 24. g7
2021 2020
B -f 2T
No. of No. of
shares Amount shares Amount
RiTEE &8 RinEE &%
‘000 3000 00 Sooo
Fi F F& Frr
Ordinary shares of $0.01 each SHREEITHLER
Authorised: EE
At 1 April and 31 March RUA—-BE=B=1+—H 10,000,000 100,000 10,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BEIRER
At 1 April RMUB—H 709,771 7,098 709,771 7,098
Bonus issue of shares (ote) AR G2 709,771 7,098 S S
At31 March #=p=+-H 1,419,542 14,196 709,771 7,098

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share
at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with
regard to the Company'’s residual assets.

Note. Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 27 July 2020, bonus shares were
issued to shareholders of the Company whose names appeared
on the register of members of the Company on 4 August 2020 (the
record date) on the basis of one new share credited as fully paid for
every one share held.
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25. RESERVES

The Group

Details of the movements in the Group's reserves are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
The natures and purposes of reserves within equity are as
follows:

@)

(i)

(ii)

Share premium

The share premium account is governed by the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and may be
applied by the Company subject to the provisions, if
any, of its memorandum and articles of association
in paying distributions or dividends to equity
shareholders.

No distribution or dividend may be paid to the equity
shareholders out of the share premium account
unless immediately following the date on which the
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the
Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall due
in the ordinary course of business.

Hedging reserve

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion
of the cumulative net change in the fair value of the
hedging instruments used in cash flow hedges pending
subsequent recognition of the hedged cash flow in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note
4(e).

25. (#iE
(@) HTEHE
AEESEEETEEIN e RRS
BRA o R P EENEE R BN
e

() REE@EE
R aEREREFEQTE
RE ARF R A mRR
DIk EFEREHERS
1AM K AR ESC (IA) 8
B EER

PRIFEBRESZ M DRI
EE?EI%ZIK’&TH?}TEZHB\EI%
EHPERANGES SRR ETH
ﬁﬁﬁx@/mﬁﬁﬁul‘ﬂ% 1 fRER 32
RIS

(ii) #HEeE
Hih#EEEEREREN A
BRI EAFTENRFTED
FENANE D URFEBIRE
MYEEA(e)PR & 5t BRI EH
ARIRERE -
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25. RESERVES (continued) 25. {#fE (&
(b) The Company (b) ZEAFE
Share Hedging Retained
premium reserve profits Total
fRi7HE Wit R st
$000 $000 $000 $000
Fr Fr F F
At 1 April 2019 RZE-hEMA—H 98,639 241 292,030 390,910
Profit and total comprehensive FERNR2EKE
income for the year - - 132,563 132,563
Effective portion of changes in fair FREREDNIEHTIA
value of hedging instruments ATEEFNEHES
recognised during the year, NisHE
net of tax - (269) - (269)
Dividend approved in respectofthe  B#tAEZ LEERE
previous year - - (41,167) (41,167)
Dividend approved in respectof the  BHtAEZAEERE
current year - - (383,276) (383,276)
At 31 March 2020 RZEZEH=B=1+-H
and 1 April 2020 R_E_Z£MA—-H 98,639 (28) 150 98,761
Profit and total comprehensive FERENR2EKE
income for the year - - 149,476 149,476
Bonus issue of shares AR (7,098) = = (7,098)
Effective portion of changes in fair FREREDNEHTIA
value of hedging instruments ATEEFNEHES
recognised during the year, NisHE
net of tax = (1,048) = (1,048)
Dividend approved in respectofthe  B#tAEZ LEERE
previous year - - (28,391) (28,391)
Dividend approved in respect of BEZEFERE
the current year - - (56,782) (56,782)
At 31 March 2021 RZE2--&=A=+-H 91,541 (1,076) 64,453 154,918

At 31 March 2021, the aggregate amount of the Company’s
reserves available for distribution to equity shareholders
of the Company, as calculated in accordance with the
Companies Law of the Cayman lIslands and the Company’s
memorandum and articles of association, was $155,994,000
(2020: $98,789,000).
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26. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 26. ERATMBINAR
POSITION

2021 2020
i S =S 2
Notes $’000 $000
K&t T A
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment YEE - B Bk B 60,511 59,790
Investment in subsidiaries BB AT —* —*
Loan to subsidiaries ERFHB AT 1,124,398 471,458
Deferred tax assets R IEE 4,959 2,070
Financial assets at FVTPL BANTFESFAER S
TRIEE 8,339 7,766
1198207 541,084
Current assets REEE
Loan to a subsidiary BRFHB AR 2,500 230,131
Prepayment and other receivables FE1T =R B H fh FE U =R 1B 1,480,022** 1,089,084 **
Tax recoverable AR ERIE 1,704 1,278
Pledged deposits [SEiALREE 16,674 5,024
Cash and bank balances RS RIRTTARR 13,418 7,327
~ 1514318 1,332,844
Current liabilities wREBAaRE
Other payables HAuhpE T shs 389,055*** 190,695 **
Dividend payables FE1TAR B = 354,885
Bank loans RITER 507,143 207,143
Loan from a subsidiary M B A BIER 2,500 2,500
Lease liabilities HESRE 5,464 5,312
Derivative financial instruments TESmMTA 54 =
. 904,216 760,535
Net current assets n@BEE®EE 0 610,102 572,309
Total assets less current liabilities EBE R ABAE 1808309 00858
*  Lessthan $1,000 * {&#1,0007T
** Included in prepayment and other receivable are balances with its * ENREMERTESERARBAS
subsidiaries of $1,471,216,000 (2020: $1,005,059,000). BI4EER1,471,216,00000 (Z B B4 ¢
1,005,059,0007T) °
*** |ncluded in other payables are balances with its subsidiaries of o HMERIEEE AN E QBB ER
$388,500,000 (2020: $190,188,000). 388,500,0007T (Z 2 -4 © 190,188,000

7o) °
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26. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION (continueq)

26. ERATRBRRR (B

2021 2020
—E- —EEF
Notes $’000 $000
K&t FT Fr
Non-current liabilities EREIEE
Bank loan IRITER 1,008,929 316,071
Loans from subsidiaries UIEPNEIREEN 577,500 640,000
Derivative financial instruments TTESMITA 1,236 34
Lease liabilities HEaR& 51,530 51,429
o 1639195 1,007,534
NET ASSETS BERE 169,114 105,859
CAPITAL AND RESERVES % 2 e sk 1
Share capital [N 24 14,196 7,098
Reserves e 25(b) 154,918 98,761
TOTAL EQUITY dERERS 169,114 105,859
On behalf of the Board REERT
Chan Hung Ming Lau Chi Wah
FRFLEH ZEE
Director Director
EF EF
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27. SUBSIDIARIES 27. B AE]
The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries UTHNRREEEAZEREBNES
which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the BEENRBBEZHNBASINER BRSEM
Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise fesh FFERDERIEEER
Stated.

Proportion of ownership interest

BEERELH
Issued and
Place of fully paid
incorporation share capital/ Group's
or registration/ registered effective Held by the Held by a
Name of subsidiary operation capital interest Company subsidiary  Principal activity
B&1Tk
AR ER/ BREMRE/ K£HE
B AFATE EEME &R BEEZ MEAAEE MMBARRE ITEER
Able Business Development Limited Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Property development
BEERARAH &% 17T 100% - 00% MEEE
Dragon Mount Development Limited Hong Kong $1 100% = 100%  Property development
EEERERAT &% 170 100% - 100% MEEE
Easton Development Limited Hong Kong $100 100% - 100%  Property holding
REERERAD B 1007 100% - 0% YESE
Eson Development Limited Hong Kong $100 100% - 100%  Property holding
ERERARAH &% 1007c 100% - 00% MEFE
Golden Ford Limited Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Property holding
EEEARAHE B 17T 100% - 0% YESE
Grand Tech Construction Hong Kong $5,000,000 100% = 100%  Construction
Company Limited
EREEERAT B 5,000,0007% 100% - 00% BH
iTech Towers Data Centre Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Provision of data
Service Limited centre premises and
facilities
EREASBEROERAD &% 170 100% - 100%  fREEEFLEHH
R
Marvellous Investments Limited Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Property holding
XERERRAH &% 17T 100% - 00% MERE
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27. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 27. MBAR (&)
Proportion of ownership interest
BEHERGLH
Issued and
Place of fully paid
incorporation share capital/ Group's
or registration/ registered effective Held by the Held by a
Name of subsidiary operation capital interest Company subsidiary  Principal activity
B&1Tk
EMRIHEL BREE/ KEHE
W& A48 R b HEE BEHG dFAORE OMBRARRE TEER
Regal Development Limited Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Property holding
REEREBRAR i 17T 100% - 100% WERE
Swift Millions Limited Hong Kong $5,000 100% - 100%  Property development
ERARAT &% 5,0007¢ 100% - 00% MEEE
Top Regent Investments Limited Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Property holding
REREBRAR i 17T 100% - 100% WEHE
Wellford Properties Limited Hong Kong $100 100% - 100%  Property investment
REBEXERAD &% 1007¢ 100% - 00% MERE
Winning Tech Limited Hong Kong $1 100% - 100%  Property investment
BEIERAS &% 17t 100% - 100% HELE
Guangxi Jiaming Property The PRC RMB32,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Development Co,, Ltd. **
BREEHAEHEREEREA AT & AR 32,000,000 100% - 00% EEE
& wholly-foreign-owned enterprise L IEEERE
# the English name is direct translation of the Chinese name 5 HENLBAERIERXLE
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28.

29.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in
order to fund its construction business and property development
and investment projects, provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher shareholder
returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position,
and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes
in economic conditions.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to any
externally imposed capital requirements.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group's current ratio (defined as current
assets divided by current liabilities) was 0.84 times (2020: 1.45
times). The Group's gearing ratio (defined as total interest-bearing
borrowings divided by shareholders’ equity) was approximately
161.5% (2020: approximately 177.2%).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity and interest rate risks arises in the
normal course of the Group’s business. The Group's exposure
to these risks and the financial risk management policies and
practices used by the Group to manage these risks are described
below.

(@) Credit risk
The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and
bank deposits, financial assets at FVOCI, financial assets
at FVTPL, derivative financial instruments, trade and other
receivables, and contract assets. The Group maintains a
defined credit policy and the exposures to these credit risks
are monitored on an ongoing basis.

28.

29.

EMHSE PR A TR A F] 2020721 E#HRES
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(@)

Credit risk (continued)

Cash, including restricted and pledged deposit, are deposited
with financial institutions with sound credit ratings and the
Group has exposure limit for any single financial institution.
Transactions involving derivative financial instruments and
debt investments are with counterparties of sound credit
standing. Given their high credit ratings, management
does not expect any of these financial institutions and
counterparties will fail to meet their obligations.

Before entering into construction contracts, assessment
of the potential customers is carried out as part of the
acceptance procedures for the new contracts.

Regular review and follow-up actions are carried out on
overdue amounts of trade receivables from customers which
enable management to assess their recoverability and to
minimise the exposure to credit risk. Trade receivables are
due within 30 days from the date of billing. Normally, the
Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

In respect of rental income from leasing properties, rental
deposits are held to cover potential exposure to credit
risk. An ageing analysis of the receivables is prepared on a
regular basis and is closely monitored to minimise any credit
risk associated with these receivables. Adequate impairment
losses have been made for estimated irrecoverable amounts.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has significant
concentration of credit risk in a few customers. In view
of their credit standing, good payment record and long
established relationships with the Group, management
does not consider the Group's credit risk to be significant.
At the end of the reporting period, 3% and 19% (2020: 68%
and 74%) of the total trade receivables were due from the
Group's largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively.

29. BERAKREEREMTIAATE

(#)
@
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)

(@)

Credit risk (continued)
The Group does not provide any other guarantees which
would expose the Group to credit risk as at 31 March 2021.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of
making payments when due and current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to the customers as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customers operate. The Group generally requires customers
to settle progress billings and retentions receivable in
accordance with contracted terms and other debts in
accordance with agreements.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLS,
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the
Group's historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status
is not further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases.

29. HHERABEEREMIAATE

Clg

(a)

EERk &)
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 29. MERAMEEREMTIAATE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) €=}
(@) Credit risk (continued) (@ =Rk #&)
The following table provides information about the Group's TRV ERAEBRIEESRNEE
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables: Rl AEHREERIEZEN ¢
2021
—E-—F
Gross carrying
amount
excluding
Expected specific Expected
loss rate debtors credit losses
TEERE
FEWTTRIERY
TEHRRSIER IREEELE EHRE 8RS8
(%) $000 $000
Fz F
Trade receivables FEUL R TR
Neither past due nor impaired BERBHB AR E 0.05% 23,358 (1)
Less than 1 month past due wHA DR —ER 3.66% 4,372 (160)
Over 1 month but less mi—1EA
than 3 months past due BALOR=ER 7.88% 406 32)
Over 3 months but less mEA=1EA
than 6 months past due BAORAER 0.00% - -
Over 6 months but less wHANER
than 12 months past due BOR+ZEA 16.67% 12 @)
Over 12 months past due BmEA+ @A 19.11% 246 @7)
28,394 (252)
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)

(@)

Credit risk (continued)

29. ﬂ?ﬁﬁﬁﬁ”éiﬁ&ﬁ%ﬂlﬂ’&qz{g
(@) EERE (&)

2020
TECEE
Gross carrying
amount
excluding
Expected specific Expected
loss rate debtors credit losses
FEERE
FEUFRIBRY
L] SEES EEEER EHAE 518
(%) $000 $000
Fz Fz
Trade receivables FE U BR R
Neither past due nor impaired BER BRI AR R B 0.04% 87,426 (38)
Less than 1 month past due mig LR —EA 3.35% 635 1)
Over 1 month but less mi—1EA
than 3 months past due BOR=ER 6.24% 1,169 73)
Over 3 months but less =18
than 6 months past due BORNER 7.85% 191 (15)
Over 6 months but less mHER N E A
than 12 months past due BOR+ZEA 14.29% 14 ¥
Over 12 months past due B+ @A 17.96% 56 (10)
89,491 (159)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past 3 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the period
over which the historic data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions
over the expected lives of the receivables.

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to trade receivables and contract assets within retention
terms and from customers for whom there was no recent
history of default.

BHREREXRBBE=FNEREE
RERIFLE - ZFLRE FRBURER
BEWREBTEIRMABA Z &K
ERTIROR R A B H R < TRER
R ZEERRIZ B RZERNER

BU% 2 280 A 7 45 ORAL 1 BY PR LSRR B8 e 1t
R BB 1R RN PO Y FE UL R BB RRIB AN Z HA I
BENCHINER -
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

(@)

Credit risk (continued)

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to
a number of customers that have a good track record with
the Group. These receivables mainly relate to construction
projects either in progress or at final inspection stage.
Based on past experience, management believes that no
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant change in
credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable. Except for rental deposits for Data Centres, the
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade
receivables and contract assets during the year is as follows:

29. BERAKREEREMTIAATE

(#)
@

EERE &)
BEE M E R ER YR EE T A
K%@EE%EMﬂﬁMEﬁW%O
ZERBREZANETRINRER
%M&%Lﬁl&ﬁ% RIFBEL
o BEEERAB AN FERFED
ME%% RAREEERILEEX
28 BRFERNEERITHK
O] BRI OMBEREIN K&
B ERL A SRR A AR R G o

FRERBUERRASNEENBE
BEREFHUWT -

2021 2020
—E-—%F —ETEHR
$°000 $000
FT FT
At 1 April RImB—H 159 431
Impairment loss/(reversal of) ERERER, #RE) 2
impairment loss) recognised RERE
during the year 93 (272)
At 31 March R=B=+—H 252 159

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from trade and other
receivables are set out in note 18.

Liquidity risk

Individual subsidiaries within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the raising of
loans to cover the expected cash demands, subject to
approval by the Company's board of directors. The Group's
policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants,
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and
adequate committed funding lines from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)

(b)

Liquidity risk (continuea)

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at the end of the reporting period) and the
earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

29.

MERBEEREMIAQATE

(%)

(b) RBEZRE (&
TRV AERZERERNRERSH
REFTENERBER LHREGH
RERBREME (BREREHFER (U0
B ARBREARNRTHE)
SHEBM BN REEE AT HER
TMERF BMESE

The Group E
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BNRERAER
More than  More than
Within 1 year but 2 years but
1yearor lessthan  lessthan More than Carrying
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount
£y —F0E  HREML
RER ERENAR BEENR  REMNE b REfE
St Sooo $o0o Sooo 000 000
F 7 FT FT Fr F
At 31 March 2021 RZE--f=RA=+-H
Bank loans SRITEM 2,576,763 1,042,275 376,670 116,256 4,111,964 4,004,901
Trade payable, other payablesand ~ EfBRZ B[ FUE
accrued charges R ER 229,707 - - - 229707 229,707
Retentions payables ENRETE 51,840 - 65,443 - 17,283 117,283
2,858,310 1,042,275 442,113 116,256 4,458,954 4,351,891
Derivative settled net; RIBEENITETIR !
Interest rate swap contracts MEEHEN 5,115 5,501 - - 10,616 32,763
At 31 March 2020 RZEZZF=A=1+-H
Bank loans RTER 1,063,501 2,016,232 1,447 346 138,162 4,665,241 4,267,767
Trade payable, other payablesand ~ FEfTIRF EHIEMFUE
accrued charges REHER 52118 - - - 522,118 522118
Retentions payables EREDE 39,906 - 37745 - 77,651 77,651
1,625,525 2,016,232 1,485,091 138,162 5,265,010 4,867,536
Derivative settled net: RIBEENTETR
Interest rate swap contracts MZEEBHAN 7,013 7,052 468 - 14,533 37,89
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(C)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through the
impact of rates changes on interest-bearing borrowings
which predominantly bear floating interest rates. The Group
monitors closely its interest rate exposure and the level of
fixed rate and floating rate borrowing and considers hedging
interest rate exposure should the need arise. The Group's
interest rate profile as monitored by management is set out
in (i) below.

The interest rates and terms of repayment of interest-
bearing borrowings of the Group are disclosed in note 21 to
the financial statements.

() Hedging

Interest rate swaps, denominated in Hong Kong dollars,
have been entered into to achieve an appropriate
mix of fixed and floating rate (mainly Hong Kong
Interbank Offer Rate) exposure consistent with the
Group's policy. At 31 March 2021, the Group had
interest rate swaps with a notional contract amount
of $2,137,776,000 (2020: $1,625,186,000), which it has
designated as cash flow hedges of the interest rate
risk inherent in its variable rate bank borrowings. At
31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group did not have any
interest rate swaps which were not designated as cash
flow hedging instruments.

The swaps mature over the next five years and have
fixed swap rates ranging from 0.5% to 2.63% (2020:
1.30% t0 2.63%). The net fair value of swaps contracts
entered into by the Group at 31 March 2021 was
$32,763,000 (2020: $37,888,000). These amounts are
recognised as derivative financial instruments (see
note 22).

29. BERAKREEREMTIAATE

(#
()
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(i) #x
NEBBT LB T ENF
RigHAEH UERTEARE
ERENBEEERIHEE
RAEHE - N _ZET_—F=1
= t+—H AEEFHELESYN
$%82,137,776,00070 (ZE =
£ 1 1,625,186,0007T) RIF|= =2
HEed A EERITER
NEFZERENIREREL o
A B ERIECEE=
B=t—H  AEBLEFEL
AIEfEEAHBEREBH H T
B WA &4 o

HHENBERRARRAEENE
o mEEMEEHNF0.5%
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

29. M ERE

BEEREMTAATE

VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) #)
(c) Interest rate risk (continuea) (0 FMERME &
(i) Interest rate profile (i) FIFEHS
The following table details the interest rate profile of THRFANFRIEEARERE
the Group’s net borrowings (as defined above) at the HHTANH=IBEHGONE
end of the reporting period, after taking into account B AERRRSHFNE
the effect of interest rate swaps designated as cash TR (EER LSOMEERBR
flow hedging instruments (see (i) above). (B Ex(i)e
2021 2020
g% “2°F
Effective Effective
interest rate Amount interest rate Amount
S &5 ik Ed
% $000 % $000
F ¥
Net fixed rate borrowings: & B34
Bank loans RITER 3.87 2,137,776 421 1,625,159
Variable rate borrowings:  ZE(fE:h
Bank loans RITER 2.25 1,867,125 410 2,642,608
Total net borrowings BfEREE 4,004,901 4,267,767
Net fixed rate borrowings as B B ERUFBILBETFE
a percentage of total net MEDL
borrowings 53.38% 38.08%
(iii) Sensitivity analysis (iii) R

At 31 March 2021, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would have
decreased/increased the Group's profit after taxation
and total equity by approximately $15,590,000 (2020:
$22,066,000), in response to the general increase/
decrease in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the end of the reporting period and had
been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk
for borrowings made by the Group which were not
hedged by interest rate swap contracts. The analysis
has been performed on the same basis as for the year
2020.

AR —F=ZFB=1+—H" 1k
sHF R REEE FF R /D 1001E E
B MEFAE B SRS g
REBBRRBEN REEDR
,Uz/'\/i‘ﬂuﬁm 590,0007T (=

— B4 1 22,066,0007T) 1t TB
EEHG%IJK%EELH/HME%

B LR 53 A7 T R R
BEDRRE RS TR
BB ERE S AR

WA ERNOFEAR
b= B BERRIERRE
170

e ER R AR AT 2020255 149
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 29. BERAKREEREMTIAATE
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) C=}
(d) Foreign currency risk d) SMER R
The Group has no significant exposure to foreign currency AREE MR EAMERE > AR
risk as substantially all of the Group's transactions are EENBABARZUABTEE
denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
(e) Fair value measurement (e) ~T{EFE
(i)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair (i) BAFEAZENETHEERE
value &
Fair value hierarchy W EER
The following table presents the fair value of the THRENAEESRH T ARK
Group’s financial instruments measured at the end of EHRFRELEHEEFENA
the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised TE MiZRE B BIREEER]
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined 135 A EFENTEERD S
in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level —EAAFEER LAFEFES
into which a fair value measurement is classified ML Z2REERMATAEEN
is determined with reference to the observability AEREMEEEDHEWT
and significance of the inputs used in the valuation
technigue as follows:
Level 1 valuations :  Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.
F—REE D EFERF—AREESFENATE NG EHHEEEMEHHEREEXNEER
AR HRE
Level 2 valuations :  Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet
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Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not available.

B MREE D EREZREBFENATE A

KN A ES

e %

— R RBERARERANTER

ENEZHE - A ERYBE N IEEINEHHENNERE-

Level 3 valuations :  Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs.
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)
(e) Fair value measurement (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair

(i)

29.

MBEERERREMIAATE
(#
(€) ATEE #E)

() BATEFBHEZHEERE

value (continued) -RC-7
Fair value hierarchy (continuead) RFEEZR (B
The Group TEE
Fair value measurement categorised into
AFEHEDES
Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
ATE B4 E-8 B
$000 $000 $000 $000
F F F F
As at 31 March 2021 RZEZ—-£=F=+—H
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVOC| BATES AR ZERG
JEHEE 11,889 - 11,889 =
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEFABRZ
SREE 8,339 - 8,339 -
Liabilities aff
Derivative financial instruments #1428 I E
- Interest rate swaps —FEEREH 32,763 - 32,763 -
As at 31 March 2020 WZE_ZE=A=+—-H
Assets BE
Financial assets at FVOC| BATEFAHMZERG
JEREE 10,114 = 10,114 S
Financial assets at FVTPL BATESABRRYZ
SREE 7,766 = 7,766 =
Derivative financial instruments 14 £#IE
- Interest rate swaps —FEEREH 8 - 8
Liabilities af5
Derivative financial instruments T4 £®IE
- Interest rate swaps —HEEREH 37,89 - 37,89 -

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020,
there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2,
or transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group's policy
is to recognise transfers between levels of fair value
hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which

they occurred.

EMHSE PR A TR A F] 2020721 E#HRES

HEZE T GFRIZEZERF
—B=+—RHLEEE F—8B&
B B EE R JRR
BE-RNEARED AEER
BEAEBERSHARLAFE
EMB R B ERE o
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29. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(e) Fair value measurement

(i)

(ii)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value (continued)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair
value measurements

The fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI is based
on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period without any deduction for transaction costs.

The fair value of assets at FVTPL is based on the cash
value priced by external and independent parties at
the end of the reporting period.

The fair value of interest rate swaps are determined
by applying the discounted cash flow method. It is
calculated as the present value of the estimated
future cash flow that the Group would receive or pay
of each swap at the each payment date based on the
observable yield curves.

Fair values of financial instruments carried at
other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s and the
Company'’s financial instruments carried at cost or
amortised cost are not materially different from their
fair values as at 31 March 2021 and 2020.

30. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
At 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Company did not have any
material contingent liabilities.
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29. BERAKREEREMTIAATE

e) AFEE (B

(i)

(ii)
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31. NOTES SUPPORTING CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(@) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

31. EEFRER=ROMEE
(@) REXRREZFEYELE:

2021 2020
T — —ETTH
$°000 $°000
ST FT
Cash available on demand RIFEFEROUAIRE 369,610 80,059
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing b) RMEEFBELNSEHIEAT:
activities:
Bank loan
IRITEM
(note 21)
(H1z£21)
$000
FT
At 1 April 2019 R-ZE—h&EMA—H 3,970,757
Changes from cash flows: HEMEED !
Proceeds from new bank loans RITEPTERIE 1,485,975
Acquired from business acquisition WEBIEME 42,920
Repayment of bank loans BIRIRITER (1,231,252)
Total changes from financing cash flows MERSRENES 297,643
Exchange differences EEER (633)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 A _EZEE=A=+—HK
—E-EHFNA—H 4,267,767
Changes from cash flows: REREEE):
Proceeds from new bank loans MIBTTEMPTEMIE 2,571,928
Repayment of bank loans BEIBITEM (2,834,794)
Total changes from financing cash flows MERSRENES) (262,866)
At 31 March 2021 RZEZ—H=H=+—H 4,004,901
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32. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@)
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In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in this consolidated financial statement, the
Group entered into the following transactions with related
parties:

32.

ERRBA RS

@ BFEFHREREMBOMARENRS
RAEERIN, AEBERFRAREULE
RIERREHZ:

2021 2020
—EZ—F =
Related party relationship Type of transaction $’000 $°000
AERA 75 R 17 R PR FT Fz
Spouse of a director Sales of properties
—UEEZRB THEMZE 4,000 -
Company controlled by the directors Acquisition of subsidiary
BEEERZAF g N =PNE - 18,800

Remuneration of key management personnel, including
amounts paid to the directors as disclosed in note 11
and certain of the highest paid employees and senior

by TE2EEAENHFMNEEECNES
2RI EE11IREE, ME T RS H
B 12 B T = 4R B 1R FE A # BN B B 5

management as disclosed in note 12, is as follow: 12 IWENT.
2021 2020
—E-—f —EIE2F
$’000 $°000
FiT FT
Short-term employee benefits fHREEET 20,623 23,851
Post-employment benefits BIREF 108 126
20,731 23,977

The related party transactions in respect of the remuneration
of directors and chief executives of the Company constitute
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. However, these transactions are exempt from
reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

The related party transactions in respect of the remuneration
of key management personnel (other than directors and
chief executives) of the Company did not fall under the
definition of connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

KRABEFNEEZTEA BN AIRIEE
5 BB EHRBFE14ATFR T E YRR EH 3
5 o AMIRE LHRAE14AS  LERH
RIRRRE A EIBILRERALERE

BRAABFTEBEEBASESMEETH
A B BRI Fr BN Y B B 32 5 T R AE Y T AR
RIS UASF R ER IR 5 o
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33.

34.

35.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statement, on 1 June 2021, the Group entered into a provisional
agreement for sale and purchase with a vendor, an independent
third party, pursuant to which the Group has agreed to acquire,
and the vendor has agreed to sell a property located at Shop B,
on ground floor, Railway Plaza, N0.39 Chatham Road South, Tsim
Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong (the “Property”) at a consideration
of $206,800,000. An initial and further deposit of $8,000,000 and
$12,680,000 had been paid by the Group on 1 June 2021 and 8
June 2021, respectively. The remaining sum of $186,120,000 shall
be paid on or before 16 August 2021 upon completion of the
acquisition of the Property which is scheduled to take place.

IMMEDIATE PARENT AND ULTIMATE HOLDING
COMPANY

At 31 March 2021, the directors consider the immediate parent
and ultimate holding company of the Group to be Chan HM
Company Limited, which is incorporated in the BVI. This entity
does not produce financial statements available for public use.

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 18 June 2021.

33.

34.

35.

HREHAREBEIE
ﬁﬂiﬁv?éﬂﬁ?’ziﬁiﬂfiﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ?&%% i
TEC—FXRB—H AEEHBEAF (B
UHE=hH) BBRFEEWSE BIb K&
ERERWEMESRRHEUNEBNE
20 DB 2R Y 58 R 3955 880 B K [E Mt T BSR &R 1L
(%)) > 18 7%206,800,0007T ° 1%
51 38,000,0007T Kz # — 7 5] 12,680,0007T
ERRN __E_—F~B—HK_E_—
FRAB/N\BXZ 88 FRIE186,120,0007T
BRZZEZ—FNA+XB EREEZY
) WA (Te

ERSAGRREERAT
EERA W_B—F=ZB=+—H=K

EENEESARRRARERATANRE
[B iR LB EFMALIZAChan HM Company

Limited o 1t B B8 f 4% 45 S5 2 B 56 F A0
B o

rE M BRI
FEEMBREEN S —EA A +/N\H

MEROHERIRETEE -
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP

ALE PR AP EE R

The particular of the Group’s investment properties and buildings held

for own use are as follows:

FEBNREVERBBYEZFBUT !

Location Use Tenure
th2y A& FHHA
Investment properties

REYZE

iTech Tower 1

No. 28 Pak Tin Par Street

Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong Kong
BEEWAEE

H 542858

iTech Tower 2

No. 56 Ta Chuen Ping Street

Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong
BB AR

FT AT f565%

Buildings held for own use
ERY*

18/F, No. 39 Chatham Road South
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BENFERIDVIEEREE 39981818

19/F, No. 39 Chatham Road South
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BENERDIEREE R399

22/F, No. 39 Chatham Road South
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
EARNBERIDIRZR B E m39572218

Shop in the Basement Floor, Shop A and
Shop C on the Ground Floor, and Shop A
on the 1/F of No. 39 Chatham Road South
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BHAEILBER DB R B R399k N E
T AR K CEE R 112 AR

Rooms 805-806, 5/F, N0.9 Zhongjian Road

Qingxiu District, Nanning, Guangxi Province

the People’s Republic of China

FEEFE A RS 5 & SR BOIE5IE805E 806

Data centre
AR

Data centre
26 LW

Office premises
ENESY/E S

Office premises
FIH/NELY)E S

Office premises
HNESY/ES

Sales office
HEWER

Office premises
HNESY/ES

Medium-term lease
FREAFEAY

Medium-term lease
FREAFEAY

Medium-term lease
FEAFEAY

Medium-term lease
FREAFEAY

Medium-term lease
HEAFEAY

Medium-term lease
FEAFEAY

Medium-term lease
FEAFEAY
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